Zoë Groenewoud

Communicating in noisy waters: assessing the impact of shipping activity on blue and fin whale calling activity in the Santa Barbara Channel during Covid-19

Master's thesis in Ocean Resources Supervisor: Ana Širović November 2023



Master's thesis

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Natural Sciences Department of Biology

Zoë Groenewoud

Communicating in noisy waters: assessing the impact of shipping activity on blue and fin whale calling activity in the Santa Barbara Channel during Covid-19

Master's thesis in Ocean Resources Supervisor: Ana Širović November 2023

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Natural Sciences Department of Biology



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Т	able of co	ntents	3
Li	ist of Fig	ures and Tables	5
Li	ist of Sup	plementary Figures and Tables	6
A	cknowled	gments	7
Δ.	betract	5	Q
л			0
1.	Intro	duction	9
	1.1	Marine soundscape	9 0
	1.1.1	Anthropogenic sound field	
	1.2	Blue and fin whale ecology	14
	1.3	Santa Barbara Channel as trophic hotspot	14
	1.3.1	Local upwelling	14
	1.3.2	Habitat for blue and fin whales	15
	1.4	Santa Barbara Channel as main shipping lane	15
	1.5	The impact of Covid-19 on the marine soundscape	15
2.	Rese	arch aim and hypotheses	17
	2.1	Research questions	17
	2.2	Hypotheses	17
3.	Mate	rials and methods	19
	3.1	Study site	19
	3.2	Data collection	19
	3.2.1	Acoustic data	19
	3.2.2	Environmental data	20
	3.3	Statistical analysis	23
	3.3.1	Temporal scale assessment.	23
	333	Lag in correlation between the environmental variables and fin whale calling activity	23 24
	3.3.4	Relationships between shipping activity, environment, and blue and fin whale calling activity	24
4.	Resu	lts	27
	4.1	Calls, ship passages, and environmental variables per period	30
	4.2	Time-delay between calling activity and environmental variables	31
	4.3	Relationship between calling activity, shipping, and environmental variables	32
	4.3.1	Effect of shipping and environmental variables on blue whale calls	32
	4.3.2	Effect of shipping and environmental variables on fin whale calls	32
5.	Discu	ission	37
	5.1	Shipping before, during, and after the pandemic	37
	5.1.1	Delayed temporal trend of shipping decrease during Covid-19	37 29
	5.1.2	Toncy-based simpling failes from and to Forts of LAY and LD	
	э. <i>2</i> 5.2.1	Blue whales and ship noise	39 39

	5.2.2	Fin whales and ship noise	40			
5.3 5.3.1 5.3.2		Productivity-driven distribution of blue and fin whales Blue whales annual calling variability in SBC Fin whales appear as true SBC inhabitants	41 41 43			
	5.4	The role of blue and fin whales in a bigger context	44			
	5.5	Conservation of the marine soundscape	45			
	5.6	Limitations and future research	45			
6.	6. Conclusion					
7.	References					
8.	Appendix					

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 1. Spectrogram examples of blue whale (B. musculus)	12
Figure 2. Spectrogram examples of fin whale (B. physalus)	13
Figure 3. Spectrogram example of a ship passage.	13
Figure 4. Map of the study site	.19
Figure 5. Count of Northeast Pacific blue whale A-, B-, and D-calls, and fin whale 20 Hz- and	40
Hz-calls, and counts of ship passages with first year from November 25, 2019 - March 25, 20)20
on the left and second year from November 25, 2020 - March 25, 2021 on the right. Remot	ely
sensed environmental data for Sea Surface Heigth (SSH in m above sealevel), Sea Surfa	ace
Temperature (SST in °C) and chlorophyll a (chla in mg/m ³) is shown with first year from Octob	ber
25 th 2019 – March 25 th 2020 on the left and second year from October 25 th 2020 – March 25 th 20)21
on the right	.29
Figure 6. Boxplot representing the difference in total counts (after ITS-calculations) between tw	wo
sampled time periods (i.e. 2019/20 and 2020/21) for all call types and shipping passages	30
Figure 7. Significant lag (*) in cross-correlations of SST and (1) blue whale B-calls in 2020/21,	(2)
fin whale 20 Hz-calls in 2019/20, and (3) fin whale 40 Hz-calls in 2019/20	31
Figure 8. Significant lag (*) in cross-correlation of Chl a and fin whale 20 Hz-calls in 2019/20	.32
Figure 9. The mean-adjusted partial fit of predictor variables for best blue whale call-ty	pe
Generalized Additive Models	35
Figure 10. The mean-adjusted partial fit of predictor variables for best fin whale call-ty	pe
Generalized Additive Models	.36
Table 1. Overview of environmental variables used in modeling	22
Table 2. Overview of call types and study periods for which the corresponding ITS values (in day	22 ve)
were calculated	$\frac{y_{3}}{23}$
Table 3 Summary of number of counts of 15 min bins with each call/sound type during ea	$\frac{25}{ch}$
study period as well as total over the total duration of the study	28
Table 4 Results of all Generalized Additive Models (GAMs) per call type	34
Table Results of an Generalized Auditive Houels (Orthos) per can type	Jr

LIST OF SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure A1. Propagation model for north slope of Santa Cruz Island (Santa Barbara	Channel)
(Širović, 2018)	
Table A1. Results of seven Generalized Additive Models for blue whale A-calls	59
Table A2. Results of seven Generalized Additive Models for blue whale B-calls	60
Table A3. Results of seven Generalized Additive Models for blue whale D-calls	61
Table A4. Results of seven Generalized Additive Models for fin whale 20 Hz-calls	62
Table A5. Results of seven Generalized Additive Models for fin whale 40 Hz-calls	63

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor Ana Širović for granting me the opportunity to take on this master's project. I have learned so much and discovered a wonderful field of study, in which I feel quite at home now. Thank you for having patience with me during this thesis, as well as during periods of personal ups and downs. I can't express enough how grateful I am that you granted me the opportunity to execute fieldwork at the Antarctic Peninsula, that is truly an experience I will never forget. Thank you for the great experience of working with you and learning from you.

I would like to thank all the inspiring, funny, and incredibly smart people I have met during the course of my master's at NTNU. Thank you to the MBEL-team for engaging me in the new world of bioacoustics and having a wonderful Gunnerus-trip together. Special thanks to Sofia Aniceto, for helping me troubleshoot my way through R for this thesis. To the lovely atmosphere at Trondhjem Biologisk Stasjon, with people who made me forget the worries of my thesis during every lunch session and Monday fjord dips. A very special thanks to my partner in crime, Catherine Deschênes, thank you for sharing adventures over the last 2,5 years, sitting with me to complete our theses until the bitter end, our late-night study sessions, your amazing laughter, funky jokes, always bringing me back to life. I could not have done this without you.

Thank you to my dear friends in Trondheim (you know who you are!), who have made it possible to create a home here. Thank you for supporting me throughout my studies, and sharing unlimited dances and laughter, you have contributed to a life-changing experience for me. To my amazing friends in Svalbard, especially the women of science (or sexygang if you will). All of you deeply amaze and inspire me. You have contributed to one of the most memorable times of my life, from our near-death adventures to the famous 'Sunday Chronicles'. Living at 78° north would not have been the same without all of you.

To my dearest friends and family at home, in The Netherlands. Lieve allemaal, duizendmaal dank voor de steun die jullie mij altijd hebben gegeven tijdens mijn verhuizing naar mijn nieuwe leven in Noorwegen. Ik mis jullie elke dag, maar dat laat me alleen maar realiseren dat ik fantastische vrienden heb, en altijd een reden heb om terug te gaan. Lieve papa, mama, Jesse, opa, en oma, ik hou ontzettend veel van jullie. Bedankt voor de eindeloze steun en onvoorwaardelijke liefde, zelfs op afstand, of dichtbij tijdens onvoorziene omstandigheden, zoals een gebroken voet. Ik denk elke dag aan jullie (en ook de beestenbende).

Finally, I would like to dedicate this thesis to my grandma, mijn allerliefste oma.

ABSTRACT

This study investigated the impact of shipping activity and environmental conditions on the Northeast Pacific blue (Balaenoptera musculus) and fin whale (B. physalus) calling activity in the Santa Barbara Channel. Passive acoustic data were collected and analyzed from late November through late March for two consecutive years: 2019/20 and 2020/21, covering the beginning of the global Covid-19 pandemic, which reduced shipping activity worldwide. Presence of three blue whale call types and two fin whale call types in 15-minute windows was manually marked and number of daily ship passages was counted in the total 2892 hours of data. Additionally, remotely sensed environmental data from the study site, including measurements of sea surface height (SSH), sea surface temperature (SST), and chlorophyll a (Chl a), covering October 25 - March 25 during both 2019/20 and 2020/21 were extracted from the European Union Copernicus Marine Service Information (CMEMS) and used as a proxy for primary productivity and prey abundance. Overall, significantly fewer blue whale calls were detected in 2019/20, as well as fin whale 20 Hz-calls. Fin whale 40 Hz-calls were continuously present throughout both years, with significantly higher activity in 2019/20. There was no clear difference in shipping activity between the two years, hence no effect of reduced shipping activity as a result of Covid-19 was observed in these data. However, shipping activity was still negatively affecting the presence of blue whale B- and D-calls, as well as fin whale 20 Hz-calls. Significantly lower SST and higher Chl a values in 2020/21 compared to 2019/20 suggest higher productivity in the second year, which was characterized by a La Niña event. The significant positive relationship between Chl a and all blue whale call-types, as well as fin whale 20 Hz-calls likely explains the higher calling activity of all these call-types in 2020/21, and lower activity during the less-productive winter of 2019/20. The persistent presence of fin whale 40 Hz-calls confirms the continuous presence of some fin whale populations in the Santa Barbara Channel, whereas the annual variability of blue whale calls suggests that the timing of their occurrence could be driven by favorable environmental circumstances as they seek high densities of prey over a broad area during the foraging season. In conclusion, these findings contribute to the growing understanding of blue and fin whale acoustic activity and their response to anthropogenic noise. The results of this study raise concerns for these whale populations that seek prey-abundant areas amidst the high noise levels in the Santa Barbara Channel. Continuing research efforts to explore the impact of anthropogenic sound sources on marine fauna is essential for enabling the conservation of the underwater soundscape on which these animals depend.

Key words

Blue whales • Fin whales • Shipping activity • Whale acoustics • Santa Barbara Channel • Covid-19 • La Niña

1.1 Marine soundscape

Many marine organisms require acoustic abilities to survive in the ocean. They can use sound for various purposes, such as mate selection, finding a suitable habitat, or searching for food (Au & Hastings, 2008; Simon et al., 2010; Stanley et al., 2012). For these reasons, a healthy marine ecosystem requires a healthy marine soundscape. Soundscapes can be defined as 'ambient sound in terms of its spatial, temporal, and frequency attributes, and the types of sources contributing to the sound field' (Ainslie et al., 2021). Since sound propagates more efficiently than any other form of energy underwater and is critical for many important functions across marine fauna, understanding the variation in marine soundscapes over time and space is extremely important to study the effects of sound on marine fauna (Putland et al., 2017; Urick, 1983).

1.1.1 Natural ambient sound field

The marine soundscape consists of two natural sources: biological (biotic) and geo-physical (abiotic), as well as anthropogenic (human source) sounds (Duarte et al., 2021). Biophony includes all the biological sound sources contributing to the marine soundscape. Marine fauna is acoustically active in bandwidths between 10Hz (low-frequency range of some baleen whales) up to 170kHz (high-frequency range for porpoises). The different frequencies at which sounds are produced correlate to the spatial scale at which the sound will travel (Au & Hastings, 2008). Geophony consists of all geological and physical processes contributing to the underwater acoustic environment. This includes all weather- and seasonality-induced activity, such as rain, storms, wind, hurricanes, and ice formation and melting. Next, it also includes all subsea seismic activity, such as earthquakes and volcanic activity, as well as sounds produced by active hydrothermal vents. Most geophonic sounds, with sound sources spread across different spatial scales, can be detected over a relatively large spatial scale (up to 10.000km) and a varying temporal scale from a couple of hours (earthquakes and volcanoes) up to years (cracking ice) (Duarte et al., 2021; Hildebrand, 2009; Wenz, 1962).

1.1.1.1 Blue whale acoustics

One of the most powerful sounds biologically produced are calls of blue whales (*Balaenoptera musculus*), which are characterized by a high intensity (maximum recorded at 188 dB re 1 μ Pa) and low-frequency (16-100 Hz) (McDonald et al., 2001; Rivers, 1997; Cummings & Thompson, 1971). The Northeast Pacific blue whale song is known to be one of their twelve distinct songs, solely produced by males and consisting of two parts: the pulsed unit with multiple overtones (A-call), and the harmonic tonal unit (B-call) (Širović & Oleson 2022; McDonald et al., 2006). Each of these components has a duration of approximately 12-20 seconds, but the combination of A-B-calls as a song can last for hours (up to several days in some cases). Songs are hypothesized to be associated with female attraction (McDonald et al., 2001; Thompson et al., 1996). Both female and male individuals have been recorded producing foraging-related D-calls: a downsweep from 90-25Hz lasting between 1-4 seconds (Oleson et al., 2007a).

1.1.1.2 Fin whale acoustics

Fin whales (*B. physalus*) generally produce two high-intensity (up to 189 dB re 1 μ Pa) frequencymodulated call types across the eastern North Pacific, named the 20 Hz and the 40 Hz call (Watkins, 1981, Širović et al., 2013). Both calls are mainly produced by animals in groups (Watkins, 1981), and have a yearly high presence in the Northeast Pacific, specifically off Southern California (Širović et al., 2013). The 20 Hz call is a short-frequency downswept pulse with its center frequency around 20 Hz, generally produced in a stable sequence creating a song (e.g. Watkins, 1981; Watkins et al., 1987; Edds, 1988; Širović et al., 2004; Širović et al., 2013). These songs are likely linked to mating behavior or mate attraction (e.g. Croll et al., 2002). However, the 20 Hz calls or pulses can also be produced in irregular sequences or counter-calls, which are hypothesized to be social calls (e.g. McDonald et al., 1995). The slightly higher-frequency, short-duration (< 1 second) call with its energy most-often centered between 75-40 Hz is called the 40 Hz call (Watkins, 1981; Širović et al., 2013). This call has been recorded as a singular call or as a combination of multiple calls, overall without sequencing (Watkins, 1981). Investigation on seasonal occurrence of 40 Hz calls revealed that these calls can be associated with foraging fin whales (Širović et al., 2013; Croll et al., 2001a; Watkins, 1981).

1.1.2 Anthropogenic sound field

In contrast to natural sound sources, the anthropogenic sound field is created by human activities that are affecting the natural marine soundscape. Shifts in the biophony and geophony are impacted by climate change and decreasing biodiversity, as well as the contribution of human sound sources, i.e. anthrophony (Duarte et al. 2021). Typical sources of anthropogenic noise include explosives, seismic exploration, low-frequency active sonars, acoustic deterrent devices (ADD), shipping traffic, and industrial activities (Duarte et al., 2021; Hildebrand, 2009). Noise from (mostly commercial) shipping vessels is known to considerably overlap with the hearing ranges of marine fauna, especially in the lower frequency bands. 'Masking' of communication space in the low-frequency bands highly influences the ability of baleen whales to use their acoustic environment, both actively (producing sound) and passively (hearing) (e.g. Cholewiak et al., 2018).

1.1.2.1 Shipping traffic

Noise pollution from shipping traffic is currently the biggest contributor to anthropogenic noise in the ocean within the lower frequencies (below 400 Hz) with an increase in acoustic intensity of approximately 3 dB per decade through the early 2000s (McDonald et al., 2006; Erbe et al., 2019; Miksis-Olds & Nichols, 2016; Miksis-Olds et al., 2013; Andrew et al. 2002, 2011). As the intensity of marine traffic is increasing, so is its contribution to underwater noise. A global increase of at least 20 dB of low-frequency noise in the ocean compared to pre-industrial times is estimated (Hildebrand, 2009). In recent decades, smaller boats and recreational watercrafts are also becoming more abundant worldwide, with an increase of 1% per year in the United States (between 1980-2017) and 3% in Australia (between 1999-2009) (U.S. Department of Homeland Security, 2018; Nsw Government Maritime, 2010). These boats generally produce noise with peaks at higher frequencies (broadband up to 48 kHz) and are mainly contributing to noise pollution in coastal acoustic environments (Erbe et al., 2016; Erbe, 2013).

The sound levels of big ships (including container ships, ferries, and such) can vary depending on the size and speed of the vessel, with a peak source level at frequencies 10-50 Hz up to 200 dB (Hildebrand, 2009). However, small reductions in cargo vessel speed can substantially reduce the impact of their noise on marine mammals (Findlay et al., 2023). The perception of noise highly depends on the hearing range of the affected organism; low-frequency cetaceans such as baleen whales perceive ship noise louder at lower frequencies (<1kHz), but high-frequency marine mammal groups will perceive the higher frequency noise more prominently (Duarte et al., 2021; Findlay et al., 2023).

As commercial shipping is the biggest marine noise pollutant both temporally and spatially (Duarte et al., 2021), and the main contributor to the global increase in low-frequency noise (Redfern et al., 2017), it is important to investigate its impact on the ambient soundscape. Low-frequency noise from large vessels is known to travel basin-wide, however, the impact on the ambient sound levels is highest near big ports and main shipping lanes (Hildebrand, 2009). Especially the northern hemisphere is exposed to a higher shipping density, with some locations differing up to 20 dB from the southern hemisphere (Hildebrand, 2009; Cato, 1976). It is of utmost importance to investigate the impact of noise pollution in areas where high-intensity shipping overlaps with important habitats for marine fauna dependent on their acoustic environment. Large whales are particularly vulnerable to noise pollution, as well as potential ship collisions, in areas with high densities of shipping traffic (Rockwood et al., 2017; McKenna et al., 2015; Jensen et al., 2003; Laist et al., 2001).

1.1.2.2 Overlap between shipping noise and whale calls

Natural and anthropogenic sounds occur at similar frequencies. For example, blue and fin whales producing low-frequency calls can have their calls interact with other low-frequency geophysical and anthropogenic sound sources occurring at same frequencies (Figure 1, Figure 2, Figure 3). As a result, low-frequency noise pollution from shipping traffic appears to influence both acoustic activity and behavioral changes of blue and fin whales (Castellote et al., 2012; Melcon et al., 2012; Clark et al., 2009; Croll et al., 2001a; Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 1998).

Melcon et al. (2012) found a significant behavioral response in the acoustic activity of blue whales exposed to shipping noise in the mid-frequency range (1-8 kHz), with an increase in D-calls during higher ship noise intensity. This contrasted with less calling activity in the presence of high intensity mid-frequency sonar and explosion noises. Somewhat in contract to that finding, foraging behavior of blue whales was not affected by low-frequency noise in another study, while their distribution and vocal activity were related to prey abundance (Croll et al., 2001a). Furthermore, McKenna et al. (2009) showed that shipping activity within 4 km of a hydrophone negatively affected the detectability of blue whale B-calls, making their fundamental frequency not detectable above ambient noise levels. Higher harmonic levels suggested, however, that blue whales were acoustically active during shipping passages, but their calls were masked by the ship noise, with the possibility of impacting their communication range.

The effect of shipping activity on fin whales was revealed by recordings from the Mediterranean, where there was less fin whale acoustic activity during periods with higher levels of shipping noise, which suggests that singers might move away from areas with high noise exposure (Castellote et al., 2012). Fin whales also shift the frequency of their 20 Hz calls to a lower center frequency, potentially allowing them to communicate amidst the noise (Clark et al., 2009; Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 1998). However, frequency shifts are known to require extra energy, thereby affecting the life functions regarding vocal behavior (Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 1998). Furthermore, communication masking in the lower frequency bands, as well as decreasing communication space as a result of shipping noise, significantly impacts the acoustic environment in which fin whales are vocally active (Clark et al., 2009).



Figure 1. Spectrogram examples of blue whale (*B. musculus*) (1) A-B-song, with an A-call framed in red and a B-call framed in green, (2) singular A- (framed in red) and B-calls (framed in green), and (3) D-calls from southern California. Spectrograms created with 1000-point Fast Fourier Transform and 90% overlap. Note different time scales across spectrograms.



Figure 2. Spectrogram examples of fin whale (*B. physalus*) (1) 20 Hz-calls and (2) 40 Hz-calls from southern California. Spectrograms created with 1000-point Fast Fourier Transform and 90% overlap. Note different time and frequency scales across spectrograms.



Figure 3. Spectrogram example of a ship passage. Spectrogram created with 1000-point Fast Fourier Transform.

1.2 Blue and fin whale ecology

Blue whales are currently listed as 'endangered' on the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List, but their population trend is increasing with approximately 5,000-15,000 mature individuals worldwide (Cooke, 2018a). The blue whale population known as the Northeast Pacific stock was assumed to be the largest population in the world with approximately 2,000 individuals (Calambodikis & Barlow, 2004; Barlow, 1995), but the increasing population of Antarctic blue whales (+ 7-8% per year) might mean this Southern Ocean population has now surpassed it (Olson et al., 2021). Groups of Northeast Pacific blue whales migrate between summer-time foraging grounds at mid and higher latitudes off the west coast of North America, to breeding grounds at lower latitudes off Central America in the winter, as confirmed by acoustic recordings (Rice et al., 2021a; Rice et al., 2021b; Širović et al., 2015; Stafford et al., 2001). They primarily feed on subsurface concentrations of euphausiids (krill), that are plentiful in the colder waters in upwelling regions (Croll et al., 2001b; Fiedler et al., 1998). During the foraging season in the summer and fall, they can be found foraging in Southern Californa, as well as in further north to areas including waters off British Columbia and Alaska (Calambokidis et al., 2009; Koot, 2015; Rice et al., 2021b). During the breeding, winter season, Northeast Pacific blue whales migrate to the Eastern Tropical Pacific, including the Costa Rica Dome and off Baja California, Mexico (Paniagua-Mendoza et al., 2017; Sears et al., 2013; Calambokidis et al., 2009).

Fin whales are the second largest animals on earth, after blue whales, and are listed as 'vulnerable' on the IUCN Red List. They, however, show an increasing population trend with approximately 100,000 individuals worldwide (Cooke, 2018b). Fin whale migration patterns vary amongst groups within the Northeast Pacific population, including movements between higher latitudes feeding areas around the Gulf of Alaska and the western coast of the United States in the summer (to feed on krill and fish), to lower latitude overwintering off Baja California (Mizroch et al., 2009). As revealed by acoustic recordings and visual sightings of fin whales, some groups are year-round inhabitants of particular areas in the Northeast Pacific, such as the Southern California Bight region (Širović et al., 2017; Forney & Barlow, 1998), as well as in the productive higher latitudes including the Gulf of Alaska (Mizroch et al., 2009). The distribution of Northeast Pacific fin whale populations therefore appears to not be fully understood.

1.3 Santa Barbara Channel as trophic hotspot

1.3.1 Local upwelling

The bathymetry and climate conditions of Southern California allow for coastal upwelling of cold and nutrient-rich deep water. The Santa Barbara Channel is a particularly well-studied transition zone, because of its local upwelling (Santora et al., 2017). This Channel is a region in the northern part of the Southern Californian Bight, extending from Baja California in Mexico to Point Conception off the Californian coast. The Channel Islands with rocky reefs and kelp forests provide a habitat for a great diversity of marine fauna. Upwelling in the Santa Barbara Channel is usually initiated as local equatorward winds pick up towards the end of winter (late February), followed by a strong increase in primary production, after which zooplankton grow, succeeded by the arrival of large whales (Croll et al., 2005). This local upwelling process is curl-driven, thereby mixing nutrients in the water column, making this an extremely productive area, or a so-called 'trophic hotspot' (Santora et al., 2017; Croll et al., 2005).

1.3.2 Habitat for blue and fin whales

Southern California is a highly important habitat for blue and fin whales, especially because of its function as main feeding ground (Redfern et al., 2017; Calambokidis et al., 2015; Forney et al., 1995). Blue whale population in the Californian waters generally reaches its peak acoustic activity during the fall and early winter (Širović et al., 2015; Oleson et al., 2007a). The year-round presence of fin whales has been observed (Širović et al., 2013, 2015; Forney et al. 1995), whereas the area functions as a seasonal foraging habitat for blue whales from (at least) June to October (Fiedler et al., 1998). However, the detection of acoustic activity of both species reveals that some of their populations remain in the area longer, varying in time periods over the years (Širović et al., 2015; Širović et al., 2013; Oleson et al., 2007a).

1.4 Santa Barbara Channel as main shipping lane

The Santa Barbara Channel is not only a trophic hotspot, but also a main shipping route between the United States and Asian markets (Smith et al., 2022). Increased ambient noise levels in the Channel Islands Marine Sanctuary (CINMS) have been measured, mostly attributed to an increase in commercial shipping traffic (Redfern et al., 2017; McKenna et al., 2009). Thirteen Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) have been established in the area, covering 21% of the sanctuary waters, however shipping traffic arriving at and departing from the Ports of Los Angeles (LA) and Long Beach (LB) is not hampered by the MPAs, resulting in the pollution of the acoustic environment (NOAA, 2023). The Santa Barbara Channel is particularly sensitive to this high intensity of local shipping traffic because of its bathymetry, trapping noise (McDonald et al., 2008). As reported by Redfern et al. (2017), protected areas in the Santa Barbara Channel overlap with the main shipping routes, particularly contributing to the noise pollution, especially within the communication range of blue and fin whales. It is therefore important to investigate the impact of low-frequency noise on the acoustic behavior of these whales in this area. Additionally, the Channel allows for an excellent area to study the impact of noise resulting from the local traffic to the two main nearby ports (LA and LB), because sounds from the deep-sound channel do not propagate into this basin (McDonald et al., 2008).

1.5 The impact of Covid-19 on the marine soundscape

During the Covid-19 pandemic, global economic activity changed drastically, decreasing shipping traffic substantially between March and June 2020 compared to previous years (March et al., 2021). A number of studies found that the first effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on the marine soundscape was a quieter ocean during the peak of the travel restrictions due to the pandemic (Jalkanen et al., 2022; Longden et al., 2022; Smith et al., 2022; Dahl et al., 2021; Ryan et al., 2021; Thomson & Barclay, 2020). However, the reduction of noise in the marine soundscape as a result of Covid-19 already commenced in November 2019 (Jalkanen et al., 2022). A globally reduced activity for container ships between 5.62 and 13.77% and between 19.57 and 42.77% for passenger traffic was measured (Millefiori et al., 2021). Off the Oregon coast, container shipping activity showed a substantial reduction, with a decline between 17-19% and a 1.6 dB reduction (in the 63 Hz-octave band representative of underwater shipping noise) in the second quarter of 2020 compared to the previous 5 years (Dahl et al., 2021). A similar trend in shipping noise was found off Monterey Bay, with a 1-1.5 dB decrease measured during February 2020, with the strongest decrease of 2-2.5 dB in June 2020, after which noise levels started increasing again (Smith et al., 2022; Ryan et al., 2021). The total global decrease of underwater noise as a result of Covid-19 reached similar noise levels as measured in 2017 (Jalkanen et al., 2022). Interestingly, an increase in vessel activity during the pandemic restrictions was measured in Sarasota Bay, Florida (Longden et al., 2022), with varying effects on dolphin whistle activity in the area. This result, combined with knowledge from previous studies investigating the effects of low-frequency vessel noise on whale vocalizations (e.g. Redfern et al., 2017; Castellote et al., 2012; Melcon et al., 2012; McKenna et al., 2009), suggests that the impact of the pandemic on the marine soundscape, including marine fauna, might differ extensively across the globe. The effect on blue and fin whale acoustic behavior from previously investigated.

2. RESEARCH AIM AND HYPOTHESES

2.1 Research questions

The assumed decrease in shipping activity at the start of the pandemic, and parallel decrease in ambient noise in the marine soundscape, provides for a natural experiment to compare patterns of whale calling from periods prior to and during the pandemic, to when shipping traffic was restored back to 'normal'. Most previous research has focused on comparing underwater noise levels during the pandemic to previous years, with research efforts lasting until the summer of 2020 when the noise levels appeared to be restored to those before the Covid-19 outbreak (e.g. Longden et al., 2022; Smith et al., 2022; Dahl et al., 2021; Ryan et al., 2021; Thomson & Barclay, 2020). In this study, I investigated the impact of shipping levels on the calling activity of blue and fin whales in the Santa Barbara Channel. To do so, I considered number of shipping passages and several environmental variables (including sea surface height, sea surface temperature, and chlorophyll a concentration) as predictor variables, and the calling abundance per call type of blue and fin whales as response variable.

To investigate this overarching research question, I divided it into three testable sub-questions:

- I. Did the levels of calling activity per call type and shipping traffic activity differ between 2019/20 and 2020/21?
- II. Was there a lagging correlation between either of the environmental variables and blue and fin whale calling activity?
- III. Was there a relationship between either of the predictor variables (shipping traffic activity and the environmental factors) and calling activity of each call type over time?

2.2 Hypotheses

For the main research question, the null hypothesis for this study is that shipping activity will have no effect on the calling abundance of blue and fin whales. The alternative hypothesis considers shipping activity to affect blue and fin whale calling activity. The null- and alternative hypotheses (respectively H0 and H1) of the sub-questions are listed below:

- I. Difference in calling activity and shipping traffic between two years.
 - H0: There is no significant difference in calling activity of blue and fin whales and shipping traffic activity between 2019/20 and 2020/21.
 - H1: There is a significant difference in calling activity of blue and fin whales and shipping traffic activity between 2019/20 and 2020/21.
- II. Lagged correlation between either of the environmental variables and blue and fin whale calling activity.
 - H0: There is no significant lag in correlation between either of the environmental variables and blue and fin whale calling activity.
 - H1: There is a significant lag in correlation between some of the environmental variables and blue and fin whale calling activity.

- III. Relationships between predictor variables (including shipping traffic activity and the environmental factors) and calling activity of blue and fin whales.
 - H0: There is no significant relationship between the predictor variables and the calling activity of blue and fin whales.
 - H1: There is a significant relationship between the predictor variables and the calling activity of blue and fin whales.

3.1 Study site

In this study, I used acoustic data that were recorded in the Santa Barbara Channel (SBC). The acoustic buoy was deployed at 34.1124° N, 119.7744° W at a depth of 180 m (Figure 4). This location was chosen because it is on the northern slope of the Channel Islands, in the vicinity of the prevailing shipping lanes to and from the ports of Los Angeles (LA) and Long Beach (LB), but due to the sound propagation characteristics of the area sounds received at this location are coming exclusively from the basin north of the Channel Islands (Širović, 2018). I, therefore, assumed that the hydrophone collected data mostly from this area in which blue and fin whales are known to actively feed.



Figure 4. Map of the study site. Buoy with hydrophone marked as red dot. Dashed lines represent main northern (N) and southern (S) shipping lanes to and from Ports of Los Angeles (LA) and Long Beach (LB). Map created using software program R.

3.2 Data collection

3.2.1 Acoustic data

To investigate the potential effects of shipping traffic on the calling occurrence of blue and fin whales, I analyzed four months (November 25th – March 25th) of passive acoustic data from two consecutive years (2019/20-2020/21). The first year represents the period immediately before the onset of the pandemic and its start, and the second year represents the return to pre-pandemic shipping conditions. I used the same time periods of each year to remove the need to account for the seasonal variation in baleen whale acoustic behavior. Acoustic data were recorded using the passive acoustic monitoring system DMON (digital acoustic monitoring instrument) (Baumgartner

et al., 2019). The DMON hydrophone and recording system had a sensitivity of -203.0 dB re V/ μ Pa rms with a total gain of 33.2 dB, zero-to-peak voltage of 1.5 V, and 16-bits A/D converter. The buoy was deployed and started recording immediately on November 23rd 2019 and it was retrieved on March 30th 2021. Data were recorded at a sampling rate of 2 kHz, on a duty cycle that recorded for 30 minutes of every hour, recording from hh:40:00 – hh:10:00, to optimize data storage.

To allow for efficient analysis, I created long-term spectral averages (LTSAs) with 5 second temporal and 1 Hz frequency resolution. Fast Fourier Transforms (FFT) were used to create spectrograms from the timeseries of data, visualizing the distribution of acoustic energy at different frequencies over time (Au & Hastings, 2008). I executed this by accessing the software program Triton via MATLAB (Version 2019b). I used Triton to visualize the LTSAs and spectrograms and manually log the occurrence of blue and fin whale calls, as well as log ship passages. Because of the different frequency and temporal scale at which blue and fin whale calls versus ship passages occur, I divided the detection and logging into two rounds: I first logged the blue and fin whale calls, and second I logged each visible ship passage.

3.2.1.1 Blue and fin whale call detection

To detect blue (Northeast Pacific A, B, and D) and fin (20 and 40 Hz) whale calls, I set the spectrogram variables to display 60-second plots within a 0-200 Hz frequency band. The FFT size was set to 1000-points with a 90% overlap and Hanning window, to optimize time and frequency resolution. Brightness and contrast were respectively set to 50 and 1000, with occasional adjustments to get a positive identification of potential calls, after which returning them to the original settings of 50/1000. Presence of each distinct call type was logged within every 15 minute bin of data and calls presence is reported as number of 15 min bins per day with a call.

3.2.1.2 Ship passage detection

I logged each individual ship passage within every 30 minutes of data. I did so by analyzing the LTSAs with brightness and contrast respectively set to 50 and 1000 within a 0-1000 Hz frequency band. The FFT size was set to 1000-points. Obvious presence of ship noise at a frequency of 200 Hz was used to log the start and end of a ship passage in case this was not cut off by the 30-minute ON/OFF sampling. If only part of the passage was visible, the start or end was marked at the start or end of duty cycle, respectively. Since I was interested in the number of passages by day, and that a passage generally occurred in less than 30 minutes, this method was sufficient to account for all passages within the recorded period. The ship passage data is represented as the number of passages per day.

3.2.2 Environmental data

I accessed environmental satellite data using the European Union Copernicus Marine Service Information (CMEMS; managed by the Copernicus Programme of the European Union, from https://www.data.marine.copernicus.eu/en). I extracted data for sea surface height (SSH), sea surface temperature (SST), and chlorophyll a (Chl a) (Table 1). Acoustic propagation models developed for the SBC (Širović 2018) were used to estimate the area over which environmental data was gathered and averaged (Figure A1). I chose to focus on the area with relatively low transmission loss, so that the acoustic and environmental data would most likely be from the same area. This led me to extract data from an area of 34.0° by 34.5° N and 119.25° by 120.25° W from 25 October 2019 until 26 March 2021 to cover the entire research period. Environmental data was extracted and analyzed one month prior to the whale calling and shipping data, to enable the time lag analysis. I assumed that a possible delay between upwelling events and response of the system

in the form of increase in prey and whale abundance could be up to two weeks (Croll et al., 2005; Service et al., 1998; Dugdale & Wilderson, 1989). SSH, SST and Chl a had a daily temporal resolution, and a varying spatial resolution which are summarized in Table 1. The data from CMEMS were available for the entire duration of interest for all variables.

Variable	Unit	Spatial scale (° meridian)	Dataset ID	Source
Sea Surface Height (SSH)	m (above sealevel)	0.25 * 0.25	SEALEVEL_GLO_PHY _L4_MY_008_047	https://doi.org/10.48670/moi-00148
Sea Surface Temperature (SST)	°C	0.05 * 0.05	SST_GLO_SST_L4_REP_ OBSERVATIONS_010_024	https://doi.org/10.48670/moi-00169; Good et al., 2020; Lavergne et al., 2019; Merchant et al., 2019
Chlorophyll a (Chl a)	mg/m ³	0.036 * 0.036 (original 4km)	OCEANCOLOUR_GLO_ BGC_L4_MY_009_104	https://doi.org/10.48670/moi-00281

Table 1. Overview of environmental variables used in modeling, along with their appropriate units and spatial scales, and data sources for each variable.

3.3 Statistical analysis

3.3.1 Temporal scale assessment

To ensure sample independence of the response variables, I calculated the integral timescales (ITS) for each call type to assess over which time period (in days) the call counts should be averaged (Table 2). The ITS (T*) calculations were done using a custom code in MATLAB based on the following formula (1) in which $\Delta \tau$ is the time series for the number of lag steps (N'), and $\rho(\tau_i)$ is the autocorrelation for the lag (τ_i) with respect to time (Emery & Thomson, 2001).

$$T^* = \frac{\Delta \tau}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{N'} [\rho(\tau_i) + \rho(\tau_{i+1})]$$
(1)

I calculated the ITS using the entire sampling period for fin whales, but due to blue whale migration southward in early winter, the ITS was calculated only over the time period of their calling presence. Next, I only used the second study period (2020/21) to calculate the ITS for blue whale A-, B-, and D-calls and fin whale 20 Hz-calls, because of low counts in the first year (2019/20). However, I used both study periods to calculate the ITS for fin whale 40 Hz-calls, because of their consistent presence in the data. The ship passage counts and environmental variables were then also averaged over the same ITS per call-type for subsequent analyses.

Call type	Study period	ITS (T*)	ITS (used)
Blue whale A-call	2020/21	4.98	5
Blue whale B-call	2020/21	5.1441	5
Blue whale D-call	2020/21	3.5851	5
Fin whale 20 Hz-call	2020/21	7.1461	7
Ein whole 40 Hz cell	2019/20	1.5825	2
Thi whate 40 Hz-Call	2020/21	1.8166	Δ.

Table 2. Overview of call types and study periods for which the corresponding ITS values (in days) were calculated. Note that the TTS (used)' column represents a rounded T*-value which I used for further calculations.

3.3.2 Difference in calling activity, shipping traffic, and environmental variables between two years

Before statistically investigating the difference in the call counts per call type (averaged according to ITS-values), counts of shipping passages, and environmental variables, I tested each variable for normal distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk normality test (Royston, 1982). Since the data were not normally distributed, I used non-parametric approaches. To visualize the data, I used boxplots for

all call types and shipping. I then used the non-parametric and non-paired Mann-Whitney U-test to test if the calling and shipping activity, and SSH, SST, and Chl a differed significantly between the two years (Hollander et al., 2013; Bauer, 1972). For each statistical test, I assumed strong significance when p < 0.05, weak significance when p < 0.1, and no significance if p > 0.1. I performed all visualizations and analyses of the data using software program R (Version 2022.12.0+353).

3.3.3 Lag in correlation between the environmental variables and blue and fin whale calling activity

I used cross-correlation lag analysis to investigate whether there was a lag in time between either of the environmental variables (SST and Chl a) and calling activity of the different call types (Emery & Thomson, 2001). To do so, I separated the data for the two years and used the ccf() function in R creating Lag-ACF (i.e. 'Auto-Correlation Function') plots for each study period and each call type with corresponding SST and Chl a values. Note that SSH was not used for this analysis because of high concurvity with SST (see section 3.3.4.1 below). Consequently, I extracted the peak ACF-value and the related lag at this peak when this relation was significant, significant, i.e. when the peak crossed the 95% confidence interval in the plot. The lag on the x-axis was given in time units, which corresponded to the used ITS-values per call type. Thus, in order to interpret the lag of the cross-correlation, I multiplied the lag with the ITS-value per call type to identify the lag in days. A positive ACF-value can be interpreted as the predictor occurring before the calling activity. Inversely, a negative ACF-value can be interpreted as calling activity occurring before the predictor variable. I assumed that the lag-coefficient was only biologically relevant when positive, as that is when it could suggest the potential lagged response of calling activity as a function of changing SST or Chl a. Environmental variables that showed a significant lagged effect on calling activity were used in subsequent models with their lag fitting the corresponding calling activity. The variables that did not show a significant lagged effect on calling activity were used in the models with the original environmental data.

3.3.4 Relationships between shipping activity, environmental factors, and blue and fin whale calling activity

To statistically analyze the potential relationships between the four predictor variables (shipping, SSH, SST, and Chl a) and the response variable (call counts per call type) over time, I created Generalized Additive Models (GAMs) using the 'mgcv' package in software program R (Wood, 2017). GAMs were used in order to include multiple independent predictor variables, described by smoothed spline functions (Hastie & Tibshirani, 1987). I created a dataframe for each call type and shipping, SST and Chl a over the entire study period (i.e. both years combined) averaged over their corresponding ITS-values (Table 2).

3.3.4.1 Model determination and assessment

I tested each call type for zero-inflation and overdispersion to determine which distribution to use for GAM fitting. None of the call types showed zero-inflation, but only fin whale 40 Hz-calls showed equidispersion. Therefore, the GAM for fin whale 40 Hz-calls was fitted to a Poisson distribution and the GAMs for blue whale A- B-, and D-calls and fin whale 20 Hz-calls were fitted to a Tweedie distribution (Wood, 2017). The call counts were rounded to integers to fit the distributions.

To determine which of the candidate predictor variables to use in the models, I tested for concurvity (i.e. dependence) of the environmental predictor variables. I found high concurvity between SSH and SST in all cases (concurvity > 0.8), hence I decided to exclude SSH from the models. The remaining predictor variables were allowed to be smoothed using the $s(x_i)$ function, allowing for non-parametric smoothing, and exploring potential non-linear relationships between the predictors and response variable. All models were fitted using 'Restricted Maximum Likelihood' (REML) to determine the smoothing parameters of each predictor variable. I set the knots (k) for each predictor variable to a value for which the model was not showing underfitting nor overfitting, leading to a k = 3 for blue whale A- and D-calls, and fin whale 20 Hz-calls, and k = 5 for blue whale B-calls and fin whale 40 Hz-calls.

I tested different models for each call type, with each singular and all possible permutations of predictor variables (Formulas 2-8). I examined the fitness of all models by inspecting the output of the diagnostic plots and their corresponding values. Subsequently, I tested different models and determined best-fitted model using the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) (Sakamoto et al., 1986). In case the lowest AIC-values of models were <1 different, and results of the models were similar (i.e. including significant predictors, similar % Deviance explained), I chose the model simplest model (i.e. fewest predictor variables).

$$g(E(Y_i) = call type_i \sim s(shipping_i) + \varepsilon$$
⁽²⁾

$$g(E(Y_i) = call type_i \sim s(shipping_i) + s(SST_i) + \varepsilon$$
(3)

$$g(E(Y_i) = call type_i \sim s(shipping_i) + s(SST_i) + s(Chla_i) + \varepsilon$$
(4)

$$g(E(Y_i) = call type_i \sim s(SST_i) + \varepsilon$$
(5)

$$g(E(Y_i) = call type_i \sim s(SST_i) + s(Chla_i) + \varepsilon$$
(6)

$$g(E(Y_i) = call type_i \sim s(Chla_i) + \varepsilon$$
⁽⁷⁾

$$g(E(Y_i) = call type_i \sim s(shipping_i) + s(Chla_i) + \varepsilon$$
(8)

As a result of this process (Table A1:Table A5), the final chosen model for blue whale A- and Bcalls included all predictor variables (shipping, SST, and Chl a; Formula 4). For blue whale D-calls and fin whale 20 Hz-calls I selected the model the included shipping and Chl a as predictors (Formula 8). Finally, for fin whale 40 Hz-calls I selected the model that included SST and Chl a as predictors (Formula 6). From the model summary of chosen models, I report the following values: p-values for each predictor~response relationship, Reference degrees of freedom (Ref. df), either F-value (for blue whale A-, B-, D-calls, and fin whale 20 Hz-calls) or Chi-squared (X²) (for fin whale 40 Hz-calls), test-statistic (R²), and the deviance explained (%). In total, I analyzed 241 days (over the total two time periods), including 2892 hours of data for blue whale Northeast Pacific A-, B-, and D-calls, fin whale 20 Hz- and 40 Hz-calls, and ship passages. While there were more periods with detected blue whale calls, fin whale 40 Hz calls were the most consistently present across the two years (Table 3).

There was generally higher calling activity during 2020/21 for all blue whale call-types and fin whale 20 Hz-calls, with extremely low presence during 2019/20 (Figure 5). Blue whale A- and B-calls were only detected during four days in the 2019/20, with their last detection on December 21st 2019. Blue whale D-calls were detected on a total of 7 days in the same period, with its last detection on December 31st 2019. Fin whale 20 Hz-calls were present during 12 days in 2019/20. Fin whale 40 Hz-calls were continuously present throughout both years, with some fluctuations in daily averages. There were clear peaks in their presence during both periods; in 2019/20 there was a peak around the first week of December and later that same month, while there was a peak in the middle of January 2021 during the second period. In 2020/21, two clear detection peaks can be observed in blue- and fin whale 20 Hz-calling activity. The first peak for blue whales is at the end of November / beginning of December 2020, and the second peak is later that month around December 24th. The second peak is concurrent with the first clear peak for fin whale 20 Hz-calls, with a second peak around January 8th 2021. This second peak of fin whale 20 Hz-calls is also observed for blue whale D-calls, and weakly for A- and B-calls. Generally higher daily calling activity was observed in 2020/21 for all blue whale call types and fin whale 20 Hz-calls (Figure 5).

Shipping passages were present throughout the entire sampled time, with some daily fluctuations, but no clear difference between the two years (Figure 5). The environmental conditions, as described by SST, SHH and Chla variables, were substantially different for both years. SSH and SST appear to follow a similar trend, with overall lower values in 2020/21 than 2019/20 and a decrease in values over time, indicative of lower temperatures and lower SSH, later in the study period. Both SSH and SST show an evident and more pronounced drop at the end of 2020/21 compared to the previous year. Overall, Chla concentration was generally lower in 2019/20 than 2020/21. Some peaks of Chl a are observed in late October, mid-December, and early-January during 2019/20, however, the peaks in Chl a concentration are approximately twice as high in 2020/21 study period compared to the previous year, with a clear longer-lasting peak from late February into March 2021 (Figure 5).

Table 3. Summary of number of counts of 15 min bins with each call/sound type during each study period, as well as total over the total duration of the study. Number of samples left after averaging data across appropriate ITS to create independent samples is also presented.

Call/sound type	2019/20 (count)	2020/21 (count)	Total (count)	Sample size (n) after averaging into independent samples
Blue whale A-call	29	1131	1160	26
Blue whale B-call	22	1270	1292	26
Blue whale D-call	22	316	338	26
Fin whale 20 Hz-call	91	767	858	36
Fin whale 40 Hz-call	545	296	841	122
Ship passages	1294	1225	2519	



Figure 5. Count of (top to bottom) Northeast Pacific (NEPac) blue whale A-, B-, and D-calls, and fin whale 20 Hz- and 40 Hz-calls over 15 min bins and counts of ship passages with first year from November 25, 2019 – March 25, 2020 on the left and second year from November 25, 2020 – March 25, 2021 on the right. Remotely sensed environmental data for Sea Surface Height (SSH in m above sealevel), Sea Surface Temperature (SST in °C) and chlorophyll a (chla in mg/m³) is shown in three bottom panels, with first year from October 25th 2019 – March 25th 2020 on the left and second year from October 25th 2021 on the right. Dotted line represents start and end of sampling effort. For all variables, presented data are daily averaged counts or values. Note that y-axis scales differ for different variables between years.

4.1 Calls, ship passages, and environmental variables per period

There was a significant difference between the two years in the occurrence of blue whale A-calls (Mann-Whitney U-test, W = 17.5, p = 3.00×10^{-3}), blue whale B-calls (Mann-Whitney U-test, W = 17, p = 2.97×10^{-4}), blue whale D-calls (Mann-Whitney U-test, W = 33, p = 6.50×10^{-3}), and fin whale 20 Hz-calls (Mann-Whitney U-test, W = 73.5, p = 4.50×10^{-3}), with higher call rates in 2020/21 occurring for all those call types (Figure 6). Fin whale 40 Hz-call rates also had a significant difference between the years (Mann-Whitney U-test, W = 2831, p = 6.27×10^{-7}), with higher calling activity in 2019/20 (Figure 6). No significant difference was found for counts of shipping passages between the two years (Mann-Whitney U-test, W = 7915, p = 0.328). Furthermore, all environmental variables (SSH, SST, and Chl a) differed significantly between the two years. Overall lower values were observed in 2020/21 for SSH (Mann-Whitney U-test, W = 18784, p < 2.2×10^{-16}), as well as for SST (Mann-Whitney U-test, W = 18888, p < 2.2×10^{-16}). This was opposite for Chl a, which generally had higher values 2020/21 (Mann-Whitney U-test, W = 3626, p < 2.2×10^{-16}).



Figure 6. Boxplot representing the difference in total counts (after ITS-calculations) between two sampled time periods (i.e. 2019/20 and 2020/21) for all call types (blue whale A-, B-, and D-calls, and fin whale 20 Hz- and 40 Hz-calls) and shipping passages.

4.2 Time-delay between calling activity and environmental variables

There was a significant time delay between SST and blue whale B-calls during 2020/21, and for fin whale 20- and 40 Hz-calls in 2019/20 (Figure 7). Blue whale B-calls showed a lag of three ITS-units, i.e. 15 days. The lag for fin whale 20 Hz-calls was four, hence 28 days, and for fin whale 40 Hz-calls it was six, i.e. 12 days. Subsequently, only fin whale 20 Hz-calls showed a significant lagged effect, of one time-unit i.e. 7 days, on Chl a concentrations during 2019/20 (Figure 8). These results are included in the subsequent models of blue whale B-calls, and fin whale 20- and 40 Hz-calls, in the case of which variables used for fitting were lagged by the appropriate number of days.



Figure 7. Significant lag (*) in cross-correlations of SST and (1) blue whale B-calls in 2020/21, (2) fin whale 20 Hz-calls in 2019/20, and (3) fin whale 40 Hz-calls in 2019/20. (Value) in plots represents lag in ITS-units.



Figure 8. Significant lag (*) in cross-correlation of Chl a and fin whale 20 Hz-calls in 2019/20. (Value)* in plot represents lag in ITS-units.

4.3 Relationship between calling activity, shipping, and environmental variables

The best-fitted models investigating the relationship between calling activity and shipping and the environment all included shipping and Chl a, with additional inclusion of SST for blue whale A-calls and fin whale 40 Hz-calls (Table 4). There was a strong significant effect of Chl a on calling activity of all call-types. Shipping was found to strongly affect blue whale D-calls and fin whale 20 Hz-calls, as well as weakly affecting blue whale B-calls. SST (lagged) only showed a significant effect on fin whale 40 Hz-calling activity.

4.3.1 Effect of shipping and environmental variables on blue whale calls

Even though the best-fitted model for blue whale A-calls included all three predictor variables (shipping, SST, and Chl a), with a deviance explained of 51% (Table 4), there was only a significant relationship between blue whale A-calls and Chl a, with a general positive relationship between the two (Figure 9). The best-fitted model for blue whale B-calls included shipping and Chl a as predictor variables, which had an explained deviance of 55.9% (Table 4). There was a strong significant relationship between Chl a and blue whale B-calling activity with an overall positive trend. A weakly significant, negative relationship was found between shipping and blue whale B-calls (Figure 9). For blue whale D-calls, the best-fitted model also included shipping and Chl a as predictors. This model had an explained deviance of 40.3% with a strong significant effect from both predictors (Table 4). Shipping and D-calling activity had a negative linear relationship while the relationship between D-calling and Chl a was positive and nearly linear (Figure 9).

4.3.2 Effect of shipping and environmental variables on fin whale calls

For fin whale 20 Hz-calls, the best-fitted model included shipping and lagged Chl a, which explained 66.7% of the deviance (Table 4). Both predictors showed a strong significant effect on the calling activity; the effect of shipping on 20 Hz-calling activity was negatively linear, and the effect of Chl a was positive for smaller values but was poorly defined at higher values due to the

small number of samples (Figure 10). The best-fitted model for fin whale 40 Hz-calls included all predictor variables (shipping, lagged SST, and lagged Chl a) with an explained deviance of 24.4% (Table 4). There was a strong significant effect of lagged SST and lagged Chl a on the calling activity of fin whale 40 Hz-calls. The relationship between SST and calling activity showed a positive relationship for the middle values of SST and was flat on the extremes, whereas the trend of Chl a showed a weak negative linear relationship with calling activity of 40 Hz-calls (Figure 10).

Table 4. Results of all Generalized Additive Models (GAMs) per call type. Test-statistics of each model was in accordance with distribution that model was fitted to (F-value for blue A-, B-, D-calls, and fin whale 20 Hz-calls, and X²-value for fin whale 40 Hz-calls). Significant values are displayed in bold (* for strong significance, and . for weak significance).

Response variable	Predictor variables	Model results			Model assessment		
Call type	Predictor	Ref. df	Test-statistic (F / X ²)	p-value	R ²	Deviance explained	AIC
	Shipping	1.73	1.69	0.136			
Blue A	SST	1.00	0.432	0.518	-0.247	51%	132.6
	Chl a	1.00	13.2	1.47 * 10 ^{.3} *	-		
Dhuo D	Shipping	2.13	2.48	0.0989 .	0.11	55.9%	127.0
Diue D	Chl a	1.88	10.2	9.47 * 10 ⁻⁴ *	-0.11		127.9
Place D	Shipping	1.00	5.18	0.0324 *	0.220	40.3%	0.0.0
blue D	Chl a	1.45	8.80	2.87 * 10 ⁻³ *	-0.559		90.0
E'. 20 H-	Shipping	1.00	24.3	2.41 * 10 ⁻⁵ *	0.764	66.7%	131.0
Fin 20 Hz	Chl a (lag)	2.00	12.4	1.44 * 10 ⁻⁴ *	0.764		
	Shipping	1.00	2.51	0.113			545.3
Fin 40 Hz	SST (lag)	3.74	25.2	3.25 * 10 ⁻⁵ *	0.205	24.4%	
	Chl a	1.00	3.88	0.0488 *			



Figure 9. The mean-adjusted partial fit of predictor variables for best blue whale call-type Generalized Additive Models: (1) A-call, (2) B-call, and (3) D-call model. Higher values on the y-axis indicate more call-detections. The plots show the average of the partial fit (solid line), the standard error of this fit (color shading), and the partial residuals (0). The vertical lines along the x-axis indicate the number of observations at each value of the predictor variable.



Figure 10. The mean-adjusted partial fit of predictor variables for best fin whale call-type Generalized Additive Models: (1) 20 Hz-call, and (2) 40 Hz-call model. Higher values on the y-axis indicate more call-detections. The plots show the average of the partial fit (solid line), the standard error of this fit (color shading), and the partial residuals (0). The vertical lines along the x-axis indicate the number of observations at each value of the predictor variable.

This study was the first to investigate the effect of shipping on blue and fin whale calling abundance in the Santa Barbara Channel before, during, and after the Covid-19 pandemic. Interestingly, the abundance of shipping passages did not differ between or across the sampled time periods, hence no clear effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on shipping traffic was observed from these acoustic data. However, there was a clear difference in whale calling activity between the two years. Blue whale calls were fairly absent during 2019/20, and present with significantly higher activity of all call-types in 2020/20. This same pattern was observed for fin whale 20 Hz-calls. Only fin whale 40 Hz-calls were persistent throughout both years, even with higher activity in 2019/20. Although the shipping intensity did not significantly differ between 2019/20 and 2020/21, an overall negative impact of shipping on calling activity was still observed for blue whale B- and D-calls, as well as for fin whale 20 Hz-calls.

Occurrence of whales is also affected by environmental conditions. Initial upwelling can be measured by SSH and SST, and I used those variables as a proxy. High rates of primary productivity are measured by chlorophyll a concentration, but this biological response is known to have a delay between 6 to 10 days from initial changes in the physical environment (Dugdale & Wilderson, 1989; Service et al., 1998). I found a significant lagged relationship between SST and blue whale B-calls (in 2020/21), and fin whale 20 Hz- and 40 Hz-calls (both in 2020/21) of respectively 15, 28, and 14 days. However, when adjusting for these lagged values in the models, no significant effect of SST on blue whale B-calls and fin whale 20 Hz-calls was found. Thus, only the activity of fin whale 40 Hz-calls was significantly affected by SST when adjusted for the delayed effect. No relationship between blue whale A- and D-calls and SST was found.

The environmental variables related to upwelling and primary production can be considered as a proxy for prey abundance. The high energy demand of blue and fin whales encourages them to seek areas of high primary and secondary productivity in search for extremely dense patches of prey (Savoca et al., 2021; Goldbogen et al., 2006; Croll et al., 2005). In this study, I found a general positive effect of Chl a on all call-types except fin whale 40 Hz-calls, which showed a slight negative relationship. Remarkably, Chl a was only significantly affecting fin whale 20 Hz-calls when tested for a delayed effect (7 days), whereas all other call-types did not show a significant relationship when testing for a lagged effect of Chl a. Peaks in primary productivity (Chl a) will only lead to peaks in krill abundance after some more time (up to 4 months) (Croll et al., 2005). However, the results of this study show an effect of chlorophyll a on fin whale 20 Hz-calls with already a 7-day delay. It is important to note that the temporal scale of this study was 4 months of 2 consecutive years, hence potentially not long enough to observe the full impact of changes in chlorophyll a concentration on blue and fin whale calling activity.

5.1 Shipping before, during, and after the pandemic

5.1.1 Delayed temporal trend of shipping decrease during Covid-19

The first goal of this research was to investigate the difference between shipping and calling activity between the winters of 2019/2020 and 2020/2021. Although there was a clear difference between calling activity for each call type between the years, shipping traffic was present throughout the entire timeseries. The null hypothesis that there was no clear difference between the years can thus be rejected for the calls, but not for shipping. This finding is in contrast to the significant decrease

of shipping noise and overall shipping traffic that other studies found during the Covid-19 pandemic (March et al., 2021; Ryan et al., 2021, Thomson & Barclay, 2020).

For example, the study by Ryan et al. (2021) found a persistent decrease of low-frequency vessel noise in the Monterey Bay region starting in February 2020 until July 2020. Globally, the Covid-19 pandemic caused a decrease of 24% in shipping noise (at 63 Hz 1/3 octave band) between 2019 and 2020, mostly affecting the Arctic, Greenland Sea, and the Gulf of California (Jalkanen et al., 2022). The research performed by Jalkanen et al. (2022) stated that the global decrease of noise levels was measured from October/November 2019 onwards. Another study with a global spatial scale investigating the effect of Covid-19 on marine traffic was performed by March et al. (2021), who found that the change in marine traffic density in the U.S. only decreased in late February / early March, similar to findings of Ryan et al. (2021). Acoustic data off Canada's Pacific coast revealed contrasting results, where one site showed a significant decrease in low-frequency noise from the first quarter of 2020, but another location did not show the same trend (Thomson & Barclay, 2020). Moreover, several studies found different temporal changes of the effect of Covid-19 on low-frequency noise levels caused by a reduction in shipping (Jalkanen et al., 2022; March et al., 2021; Ryan et al., 2021; Thomson & Barclay, 2020).

Since the first year of data from this study only covered the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic, until late March 2020, it appears that the shipping traffic in the Santa Barbara Channel was not yet affected by the global pandemic by that point. Investigating acoustic data from March 2020 onwards could reveal the later effects of the pandemic on shipping activity in this area. A relatively quick recovery of shipping traffic was found to commence in July 2020 (Ryan et al., 2021), which could suggest that even if such a decrease occurred during the time between the two periods analyzed in this study, there could easily have been a restoration of pre-pandemic shipping activity in this region by the second study period (November 2020 - March 2021). Contrastingly, Jalkanen et al. (2022) found another decreasing trend in global underwater noise-levels at the end of 2020, potentially related to the second wave of lockdowns in that period. This coincides with the second study period of this study (November 2020 – March 2021), which could indicate there were indeed lower noise levels in 2019/20 as a result of Covid-19, yet the same decrease was found during 2020/21 as a result of the second wave of lockdowns. This could explain the similar activity of shipping traffic in 2019/20 and 2020/21 observed in this study. Comparing the number of shipping passages or the source levels (in dB) of noise produced by the shipping traffic in both periods of this study to values of pre-pandemic conditions would be essential to confirm this hypothesis.

5.1.2 Policy-based shipping lanes from and to Ports of LA and LB

Another possible explanation for the continuous presence of shipping traffic could be related to the implementation of the 'Ocean-Going Vessel Fuel Rule' that was implemented for the Santa Barbara Shipping lane in 2009, and further updated in 2011 (Klotz & Berazneva, 2022; CARB, 2008). The main incentive of this rule was to reduce health impacts on humans from fine particulate matter (PM) resulting from the high shipping intensity by reducing vessel speed and require use of fuel with lower sulfur content. Two other incentives of this rule included reducing the risk of whale collisions and decreasing noise pollution by shipping traffic. Before this rule, approximately 95% of all voyages to and from the Ports of LA and LB traveled through the SBC, but after the rule was implemented, this percentage was reduced to 15% after six months. The policy was modified in 2011, increasing the region of the emission control area (ECA) up to 24nm from the shoreline of the Channel Islands. This modification appeared to reduce avoidance of the

Channel, leading to 60% usage of the SBC after six months of implementation (Klotz & Berazneva, 2022), with an overall decreasing trend of noise produced by shipping (ZoBell et al., 2021).

This policy was still in place during the time period in which this study was conducted. As shipping activity related to transits from and to Asian ports decreased earlier than other shipping traffic during the Covid-19 pandemic (e.g. Dirzka & Acciaro, 2022), it would be interesting to investigate if vessels transiting between Asian ports and LA and LB were mostly using the shipping lanes north or south of the Islands. As I found no change in shipping activity between 2019/20 and 2020/21, this could suggest that shipping traffic north of the islands was less connected to international transport (which by this point was the part mostly affected by Covid-19) (Jalkanen et al., 2022), but instead was driven by traffic going along the coast of North America. I did not have access to data with which I could determine this, therefore investigating the details of transiting vessels south of the Channel Islands during this time period would be an interesting follow-up to evaluate the potential impact of Covid-19 on the marine soundscape across the broader area.

5.2 Noise-driven distribution of blue and fin whales: behavioral change or masking?

Before digging into the effects of the environmental variables (in subquestion II and III), I first investigated the impact of shipping on the calling activity of blue and fin whales as part of the third subquestion. For blue whale B-, and D-calls, and for fin whale 20 Hz-calls I found a clear negative relationship between the intensity of shipping traffic and calling activity. The null hypothesis that shipping does not have an effect on these call types can therefore be rejected. There are generally three possible explanations for the observed trend: (1) whales responded to shipping traffic and either moved away from the source or did not call in the presence of shipping, (2) the shipping noise masked potential calls, or (3) there were generally fewer whales in the study area during periods of higher shipping, but this difference could have been driven by other factors.

5.2.1 Blue whales and ship noise

A study performed by McKenna et al. (2009) in the Santa Barbara Channel found that the distance between the hydrophone and a transiting vessel severely impacted the ability to detect blue whale B-calls at distances below 4 km. Whereas A- and B-calls of blue whales often occur as a song, B-calls can also be observed repeatedly without prior A-calls (Oleson et al., 2007b; Thompson, 1996). The weak negative effect of shipping on blue whale B-calls could therefore be due to the limited detectability of these calls during periods when shipping passages were < 4km from the hydrophone, hence masking the B-calls. McDonald et al. (2009) observed a frequency shift with a declining trend for blue whale B-calls. One of their hypotheses describes the shift as a potential adaptation to increasing low-frequency noise levels in the ocean. However, this lower frequency of B-calls would result in lower source levels of the call, and therefore likely not outweigh increased noise (McDonald et al., 2009). The persistence in the declining frequency of blue whale B-calls thus remains uncertain. In this study, I did not investigate the potential frequency-shift in blue whale B-calls as a result of shipping noise, however results from this study indicate, and thereby aligning with results from McKenna et al. (2009), that blue whale B-calls were likely masked by shipping noise.

The findings in this study show a negative relationship between shipping activity and blue whale D-calls, which is in contrast to the findings of Melcon et al. (2012). Their study found an increased abundance of D-calls during periods with higher shipping noise at mid-frequencies (1-8 kHz). On

the other hand, they found lower rates of D-calls during exposure to MFA sonars with similar frequencies. In this study, I used noise from ship passages located at 200 Hz to determine shipping activity, hence the different measures used to measure shipping activity between this study and Melcon et al. (2012) (shipping noise measured at respectively 200 Hz and 1-8 kHz) could suggest that the different results are incompatible. Again, the negative relation between shipping activity and D-calls in this study could be related to masking of calls due to low-frequency ship noise. However, if shipping activity actually decreases or masks blue whale D-calling activity, this could potentially interfere with their feeding behavior, as this call-type is associated with foraging (Oleson et al., 2007a). It is important to note that in this study, I detected fewer blue whale calls throughout 2019/20 compared to 2020/21, which could also indicate the absence of blue whales at this time, unrelated to shipping. This would be in accordance with findings from Croll et al. (2001a), who found that their distribution pattern was rather linked to oceanographic parameters associated with upwelling and prey than driven by noise. But late December, they can be expected to have departed this region and started their migration south (Szesciorka et al., 2020; Širović, 2015)

5.2.2 Fin whales and ship noise

Fin whale calls were present throughout the entire sampling period, dominated by 40 Hz-calls. Interestingly, only 20 Hz-calls were negatively affected by ship noise. As predicted by a model created by Cholewiak et al. (2018) fin whale song (regular sequence of 20 Hz-calls; Watkins et al., 1987) is highly impacted by masking, decreasing up to 90% of their total communication space. Shipping activity was present at a constant rate throughout the entire study, whereas fin whale 20 Hz-calling activity was higher in 2020/21, and 40 Hz-calls were present throughout both years with slightly higher activity during the first year. If 20 Hz-calls were indeed masked by ship noise, this would be in contrast to findings in the 2020/21 study period, when shipping intensity was similar to the first, yet higher activity of 20 Hz-calls was found. This could suggest that other (non-exclusive) factors, such as environmental and behavioral variability, are able to further explain the difference in calling activity between the years. Another study found that fin whales were generally less acoustically active when exposed to more shipping noise (Castellote et al., 2012), but this does not seem in line with the persistent presence of 40 Hz-calls.

In a behavioral context, when using different call types as proxies for distinctive whale behavior, fin whale 20 Hz-song is most likely related to a reproductive function, since it is exclusively produced by male individuals (Croll et al., 2002). Irregular 20 Hz-pulses are hypothesized to be related to social behavior, in the form of contact maintenance (McDonald et al., 1995). In this study, I did not differentiate between the two types of 20 Hz-calls, limiting the ability to relate the effect of shipping activity on specific fin whale behavior. However, the model results could suggest that ship noise negatively impacts social behavior of fin whales, as well as the ability of male singers to attract females. On the other hand, fin whale 40 Hz-calls are hypothesized to be related to foraging behavior (similar to blue whale D-calls) (Širović et al., 2013; Watkins et al., 1981). Their persistent presence, seemingly unaffected by shipping noise, could suggest that calling behavior of fin whales is less bothered by ship noise in feeding contexts. This would be in line with the predictions of Redfern et al. (2017), who found that fin whale habitats overlap with noisier waters, compared to the main habitats of blue and humpback whales.

In this study, I did not explore the potential frequency-shift of fin whale 20 Hz-calls as a response to shipping noise (Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 1998). However, in this important year-round fin whale habitat (Širović et al., 2015; Širović et al., 2013), where they co-occur with high densities of shipping traffic (Smith et al., 2022; Redfern et al., 2017; McKenna et al., 2009), it would be interesting to investigate if fin whales adjust their frequency to increase their communication space

amidst the noise (Clark et al., 2009). It is essential to understand the changes in acoustic behavior regarding frequency shifts, as producing calls at suboptimal frequencies requires more energy for the whales to produce sounds (Castellote et al., 2012; Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 1998).

5.3 Productivity-driven distribution of blue and fin whales

The second subquestion of this study was to explore the effect(s) of potential time-delayed correlations between the environmental variables SST and Chl a and calling activity. I found significant results for blue whale B-calls (15 day-delay in 2020/21), and fin whale 20 Hz- and 40 Hz-calls (respectively 28- and 14 day-delay both in 2019/20) responding to SST, as well as a significant lagged relationship between chlorophyll a and fin whale 20 Hz-calls (7 day-delay in 2019/20). The null hypothesis of the second subquestion stating that SST does not have a delayed effect on calling activity of blue whale B-calls (2020/21), fin whale 20 Hz- and 40 Hz-calls (2019/20) can therefore be rejected. As for chlorophyll a, the null hypothesis that chlorophyll a does not have a lagged impact on calling activity can only be rejected for fin whale 20 Hz-calls.

As part of the third subquestion, I tested for potential relationships between environmental factors and calling activity. Chlorophyll a, as an indicator of primary productivity, showed a clear positive effect on all call types of blue whales and a lagged positive effect on fin whale 20 Hz-calls, but not for fin whale 40 Hz-calls. Contrastingly, fin whale 40 Hz-calls appeared to be significantly affected by chlorophyll a in a negative linear relationship. Consequently, the null hypothesis that chlorophyll a does not impact the calling activity per call type can be rejected for all call types. Furthermore, SST only directly affected fin whale 40 Hz-calling activity, hence the null hypothesis that SST does not impact the calling activity can only be rejected for this call type.

5.3.1 Blue whales annual calling variability in SBC

Blue whale calls were almost exclusively detected in 2020/21. The best-fitted model to predict their calling activity included a significant effect of chlorophyll a for all call types (both years), as well as a lagged effect of SST on blue whale B-calls of 15 days (only 2020/21). Stafford et al. (2009) described a model in which blue whale calling was mostly related to SST with a 2 month-delay. In general, there is a persistent presence of blue whale calls from August to December in this part of the Northeast Pacific (Širović et al., 2015; Stafford et al., 2009; Oleson et al., 2007a; Stafford et al., 2001). The sampled time of this study reaches from late November to late March, thereby not covering the time at which blue whales are presumably most present in the area. This could indicate that the potential 2-month lag of SST as measured by Stafford et al. (2009) cannot be observed in this dataset because of the limited temporal scale.

The clear correlation between Chl a and all blue whale call types is in line with findings from previous studies (e.g. Burtenshaw et al., 2004; Smith et al., 1986). The diet of blue whales is relatively simple, as it consists almost exclusively of euphausiids (e.g. Fiedler et al., 1998), and therefore persists low in the foodweb. It is thus not surprising that the early signs of primary productivity, as indicated by chlorophyll a concentration, are closely related to blue whale calling activity. On the other hand, Stafford et al. (2009) found that blue whale calls were more closely related to SST than Chl a, which was not observed in this study.

The extent of calling activity of blue whales is quite variable over the years (e.g. Szesciorka et al., 2020; Širović et al., 2015; Stafford et al., 2009), also varying amongst areas within the Southern California Bight (Lewis & Širović, 2018; Širović et al., 2015). During the feeding season of blue

whales from the summer through early winter, their distribution is mostly driven by the distribution of their prey (Szesciorka et al., 2020; Croll et al., 2001a). Blue whales seek areas of extremely high densities of krill, which are very local (Savoca et al., 2021; Goldbogen et al., 2006; Croll et al., 2005). And since blue whales are not year-round habitants of the Santa Barbara Channel (as opposed to some fin whale populations) (e.g. Širović et al., 2015), their (calling) presence or absence in the SBC is most likely affected by the prey-availability (Croll et al., 2001a). When comparing the two years of this study, the second year shows evidence of higher productivity, most likely caused by the strong La Niña event that occurred in that winter of 2020/21, which was the sixth strongest since 1982 (Hasan et al., 2022; Li et al., 2022). The higher productivity in the second year could explain the higher calling activity and longer persistence of blue whales in this area compared to the relatively less productive 2019/20 winter season. This would be in line with findings from Truong & Rogers (2023) who detected higher calling activity of pygmy blue whales (*Balaenoptera musculus brevicauda*) in the eastern Indian Ocean during La Niña conditions.

The lower calling activity during 2019/20 could be explained by the lower productivity, potentially leading the whales to migrate to southern breeding grounds relatively early, or seek foraging grounds elsewhere. During warmer years, with lower prey abundance in the Southern California region, blue whales are also found feeding opportunistically along their migration route, instead of going to particular well-known foraging grounds such as the SBC (Irvine et al., 2014; Calambokidis et al., 2009; Mate et al., 1999). Given the seemingly lower productivity, indicating lower prey abundance, during the first year of this study, it is possible that blue whales sought foraging grounds elsewhere. Generally, the movement range of Northeast Pacific blue whales is large during the foraging habitats in the Southern California region, including the SBC, shows annual variability (Szesciorka et al., 2020; Širović et al., 2015; Irvine et al., 2014). The annual calling variability between 2019/20 and 2020/21 observed in this study is therefore in line with previous findings.

An additional explanation for the annual variability in calling activity of blue whales is enlightened by Szesciorka et al. (2020). They found a relationship between higher calling activity in the Southern California region when SST was relatively low in the previous year, as lower SST indicates higher and lipid-richer euphasiids abundance. The arrival of blue whales in this region, indicated by D-calling activity, was hypothesized to be linked to memory of environmental variables from previous years as cues for migrating from and to productive foraging grounds. During the studyperiod of 10 years, Szesciorka et al. (2020) found that whales arrived earlier every spring season, up to 1 month in the final year (2017). Even though the whales arrived at the foraging ground earlier, they did not leave the site sooner, hence prolonging their entire stay in the area. Investigating the environmental circumstances of 2018/19 might provide us with more understanding of the low calling activity of blue whales in 2019/20, potentially resulting from memory from the previous year (Szesciorka et al., 2020). Contrastingly, the findings of this study showing higher calling activity in 2020/21 is not in line with findings of Szesciorka et al. (2020), as their study's outcome would predict lower SST in 2019/20 should have occurred to be followed by higher calling activity in 2020/21. This was not the case in this study, as I observed relatively higher SST-values in 2019/20. The high productivity during 2020/21, as a result of a La Niña event, could have led to an even high calling activity of blue whales in 2021/22 as a result of this memory, but this has to be further explored. The role and timing of La Niña and El Niño events and its potential impact on timing of migrating from and to foraging grounds was not taken into account by Szesciorka et al. (2020), so it is not clear how these periods fit within the proposed hypothesis.

La Niña is generally characterized by lower SST and higher chlorophyll production and zooplankton biomass (Bograd & Lynn, 2001; Philander, 1985), and the phenomenon is usually

found as a follow-up to an El-Niño event (Lynn & Bograd, 2002; Philander, 1985). However, the 2020/21 La Niña event was observed without any El Niño beforehand, which is in contrast to the general pattern (Li et al., 2022; Hasan et al., 2022). When observing data from this study, I found a gradual increase in blue whale D-calls in 2020/21. Blue whale D-calls are often related to foraging behavior, as described by e.g. Oleson et al. (2007b) and McDonald et al. (2001), explaining their positive linear relationship with Chl a, likely indicating higher prey abundance. The finding from my study that blue whale D-calls are highly present during late fall and early winter (last detection on January 24th 2021) is slightly in contrast to the findings of Szesciorka et al. (2020) and Oleson et al. (2007a) who found typical high occurrence from April through November. Since the dataset of this study only covers late November through late March, we can only interpret the observed trends in this period, however the high blue whale D-calling activity in these data could be explained by the relatively higher productivity during this time, and therefore potentially related to prolonged foraging during this La Niña-year.

Oleson et al. (2007a) found that blue whale A-B song and B-singular calls were typically recorded from June to January in Southern California. In this study, both A- and B-calls were recorded until mid-January 2021, thereby supporting findings from previous studies in the Southern California region (e.g. Lewis & Širović, 2018; Oleson et al., 2007a; Oleson et al., 2007b). Although I did not distinguish between A-B-song and repeated or singular B-calls, I found that A-calls were only observed in combination with a following B-call, but not vice versa. This explains the overall higher activity of B-calls in the 2020/21 data (1270 total counts in 15min bins) compared to A-calls (1131 total counts in 15min bins), supporting findings by Oleson et al. (2007a). Contrary to songs, Lewis & Širović (2018) found that singular A- and B-calls can be used by males as social bonding calls during feeding. The co-presence of the foraging-related D-calls and (potentially singular) A- and B-calls in this study could imply that these A-B-calls were actually social bonding calls during foraging. Consequently, these findings could suggest blue whale behavior related to both (social) foraging and reproductive behaviors, as I did not investigate the different sequences in which the calls occur.

5.3.2 Fin whales appear as true SBC inhabitants

Fin whale calls were detected during both consecutive years of this study, with higher activity of 40 Hz-calls in 2019/20 and higher 20 Hz-calling during 2020/21. Their persistent presence is in accordance with findings from other studies, where fin whale calls were detected year-round in Southern California (Redfern et al., 2017; Širović et al., 2017; Širović et al., 2015; Stafford et al., 2009; Forney & Barlow, 1998). As they appear to be true inhabitants of SBC, with migration patterns that are not yet fully understood, it is not surprising that their calls, dominated by 40 Hz-calls, were found throughout the entire study.

The environmental variable related to the prevalence of fin whale calls are found to mostly be SST, with a time-delay up to 3 months in the Northeast Pacific (Stafford et al., 2009). This is in contrast to blue whales, which were found more closely related to Chl a concentration. The pattern as described for fin whales by Stafford et al. (2009) was also found in this study, with a lagged effect of SST on both 20 Hz- and 40 Hz-calls (28 and 12 days in 2019/20, respectively). Chl a was also found to have a lagged effect on fin whale 20 Hz-calls, with a delay of seven days. The longer delayed effect of SST on fin whale calling occurrence found in Stafford et al. (2009) is hypothesized to be due to the more complex foodweb of fin whales compared to that of blue whales. They are considered generalists (Kawamura, 1980; Nemoto, 1970), and therefore have a longer delay in responding to changes in primary productivity (Stafford et al., 2009).

Interestingly, fin whale 40 Hz-calls were found to be less common in 2020/21 during La Niña, compared to the less-productive previous year. If these calls are related to foraging behavior (Širović et al., 2013; Croll et al., 2001a; Watkins, 1981), it would be expected that the calling abundance would be higher during 2020/21. Since some populations of fin whales are found to be year-round inhabitants of the SBC it could be that their calling activity is not as closely related to environmental variability as is the case for blue whales. Furthermore, the potential response of fin whale calling activity to environmental factors may not be fully observable due to the limited timescale of this study, which would have been too short to detect their response to changes in oceanographic features and prey availability (Stafford et al., 2009).

The behavioral context of fin whale 20 Hz-calls is assumed to be different when produced in a song or as singular pulses (Croll et al., 2002; Watkins, 1981). However, since I combined all variants into one call-type for this study, it is complicated to distinguish the type of behavior related to the calling activity of 20 Hz-calls. The significant difference in 20 Hz-calling abundance between the two years as observed in this study can be due to various non-exclusive reasons. For example, different environmental circumstances can be causing the difference. Generally, 20 Hz-song is abundant in the late fall and winter (Sirović et al., 2013; Stafford et al., 2007; Nieukerk et al., 2004; Watkins et al., 2000), which was the case in 2020/21. However, since the sampling period of this study does not cover the complete feeding season, it is not possible to determine the temporal separation of the fin whale calls, as described by Širović et al. (2013). Širović et al. (2015) found overall variability in fin whale 20 Hz-calling activity depends on location in the Southern California Bight region. The relatively lower presence of 20 Hz-calls during the first year of this study is somewhat in line with findings from Sirović et al. (2015), who found that the SBC might not be the preferred area of fin whales (at least as suggested by 20 Hz-call detections). The higher calling activity during 2020/21 could therefore potentially be a behavioral response to different environmental conditions driven by the La Niña event.

5.4 The role of blue and fin whales in a bigger context

Blue and fin whales are extremely important ecosystem engineers (Roman et al., 2014). The understanding of the functional roles of great whales increased after commercial whaling drastically decreased their abundance (Christensen, 2006). These functional roles are generally described by the whale carbon and oxygen flux, creating the so-called 'Whale Pump' (Roman & McCarthy, 2010), in which whales: (1) contribute to horizontal and vertical nutrient transfer, (2) higher productivity rates, and (3) act as a source of food and habitat possibilities (Roman et al., 2014). Horizontal nutrient transfer describes the process of nutrient transfer from foraging grounds at higher latitudes to breeding areas at lower latitudes. Transporting nutrients within the water column by feeding in the deeper waters and releasing feces in the surface column is known as vertical nutrient transfer (Lavery et al., 2010; Roman & McCarthy, 2010). Subsequently, the regions where the whales forage and breed. Lastly, whales are an important food source for other marine fauna, as well as acting as a habitat when their carcasses sink to the ocean floor. In this way, they also transport fixed carbon from the surface to the deep-sea (Smith et al., 2015; Roman et al., 2014).

Investigating the acoustic behavior of blue and fin whales has the potential to explain the distribution of these great whales on large spatial and temporal scales. Understanding their distribution could help us discover the recovery pattern after commercial whaling, as well as assessing their main feeding and breeding grounds. Gathering more knowledge about important habitats for blue and fin whales, including their migratory routes, can allow us to establish areas

where human-environment interactions should be reduced in order to conserve essential marine space for these baleen whales. This is of particular importance in areas where anthropogenic activities exert high pressure on the marine environment (Duarte et al., 2021; Redfern et al., 2017; Clark et al., 2009; McKenna et al., 2009; McDonald et al., 2008), as is the case in the SBC.

5.5 Conservation of the marine soundscape

With shipping as the current main contributor to low-frequency noise in the marine soundscape, it is essential to continue research efforts on its impact on the acoustic environment of marine flora and fauna (Erbe et al., 2019; Redfern et al., 2017; Melcón et al., 2012; Croll et al., 2001a). This study has shown the negative effect of shipping noise on blue and fin whale calling detections, due to masking or behavioral changes, or both. Shipping is the biggest contributor to noise across wide temporal and spatial scales and overlaps severely with frequency bands of marine fauna hearing ranges and sound productions (Duarte et al., 2021). The occurrence of high noise levels derived from intense shipping activity in whale habitats is concerning, because of their dependence on acoustic communication for maintaining population dynamics, mother-calf interactions, and mate attraction (Au & Hastings, 2008; Oleson et al., 2007b; Croll et al., 2002; Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 1998; Edds-Walton, 1997). Moreover, regions experiencing extensive noise levels can indicate degraded acoustic environments (Redfern et al., 2017), leading to ecological and conservational concerns on large scales.

Several science-based policies have been established in Southern California to monitor and reduce the impact of shipping traffic on the marine soundscape, especially regarding great whales. Reducing vessel speed has been found to be an effective measurement to reduce noise (ZoBell et al., 2021), thereby reducing the impacts on marine mammals (Findlay et al., 2023), as well as reducing the risk of ship strikes with whales (Freedman et al., 2017). Other regulations such as the 'Green-Fuel Rule' in California indirectly benefit the marine soundscape by reducing vessel speed in important marine habitats. Vulnerable marine environments have benefitted from the establishment of the CINMS, as measured by reduced noise levels in this area compared to the general noise levels of the Santa Barbara Channel (Redfern et al., 2017). As well-described by Duarte et al. (2021), human anthropogenic activities have already managed to alter the marine soundscape severely from local to global scales. Continuing efforts to conserve the underwater acoustic environment is essential to conserve a healthy marine ecosystem, as the marine flora and fauna are dependent on acoustic properties of the ocean.

5.6 Limitations and future research

There are some limitations and difficulties when using and interpreting acoustic data. First of all, using acoustic data to investigate the impact of shipping noise on calling behavior is limited by the fact that acoustics can provide us with knowledge about the presence of whales, yet the absence of calls does not necessarily imply the absence of whales. Comparing these data to estimates provided by visual survey of blue and fin whales could be helpful to provide evidence for the actual (near) absence of blue whales in the SBC 2019/20, hence providing potential information about the acoustic behavioral response to shipping activity. Secondly, acoustic monitoring does not provide us with knowledge of abundance estimates of blue and fin whales. This knowledge is essential for conservation efforts, especially with regard to exploring the recovery of these whales after intensive whaling. Third, using calling activity as a proxy for more or less whale presence is conflicted by context-dependence. This means that certain behavioral contexts, for example, enhanced B-calling activity because of long-duration repetitive sequences or songs during the start

of the breeding season (Oleson et al., 2007a, 2007b), might accelerate calling activity, not necessarily implying greater whale presence. At last, masking of low-frequency blue and fin whale calls by low-frequency (shipping) noise limits our ability to detect calls during times of overlapping occurrence (Erbe et al., 2019; Cholewiak et al., 2018; Clark et al., 2009; McKenna et al., 2009). Investigating the impact of shipping levels on calling activity is therefore limited by timings at which the two do not overlap to such an extent that the whale calls are completely masked. This could potentially be prevented to a certain extent by monitoring the calls with a hydrophone that is further away from the main shipping lane (i.e. > 4 km) (McKenna et al., 2009).

Further, I did not differentiate between different call-types in the form of song or irregular calls, thereby complicating our ability to interpret the behavioral context related to active calling periods of both blue and fin whales. Fully understanding the behavioral context during calling activity of blue and fin whales could provide us with insights on potential behavioral responses to shipping activity, especially during periods of enhanced or reduced shipping. For future research, it would be interesting to study the behavior related to different call-types, which would require a more fine-scale analysis including the separation of calls produced as irregular sequences or songs (especially true for blue whale A- and B-calls and fin whale 20 Hz-calls) (e.g. Sirović & Oleson, 2022; Širović et al., 2015; Širović et al., 2013; Oleson et al., 2007b). In this way, we could further examine the potential effect of shipping noise and environmental factors on different behavioral activity in the Santa Barbara Channel. Examples of studies further investigating the impact of shipping activity on specific calling behavior could include studying the yearly increase of blue whale B-calls, as found by Lewis & Širović (2018), and explore whether the increase in production of this call-type could be related to an increase in shipping noise. As blue whale B-calls have high source levels and travel over extremely long distances, their yearly increase could be a compensation for increasing noise levels. Another example could be to study the potential effect of increased low-frequency noise, such as that from shipping traffic, on frequency shifts of calltypes as found for fin whale 20 Hz-calls (Castellote et al., 2012; Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 1998).

Subsequently, this study is limited by a relatively small spatial and temporal scale. As for implications regarding the temporal scale, the main feeding season for blue whales during the late summer / fall in the SBC was not covered. Especially during 2019/20, this could have had a big impact on the findings of this study, as low productivity in the area could have driven blue whales to migrate southward earlier. The spatial distribution of blue whales within the Southern California Bight region has appeared to vary over the years (Širović et al., 2015). The relatively small spatial scale of this study does not include other important blue whale foraging habitats in this region, limiting the potential to study the broader foraging grounds of blue whales. Increasing the spatial and temporal scale of this study could improve our understanding of the calling variability of fin whale 20 Hz-calls during the two years, which could be explained by habitat preference, interannual calling variability, external forces, or a non-exclusive combination (e.g. Širović et al., 2015; Širović et al., 2013). Additionally, the limited spatial and temporal scale of this study also reduces our ability to investigate the potentially-delayed impact, or the effect of the second wave of the Covid-19 pandemic on shipping activity to a fuller extent.

The SBC is a region in which intensive human activities and vulnerable marine ecosystems interact (Smith et al., 2022; Redfern et al., 2017; Santora et al., 2017; Calambokidis et al., 2015; McDonald et al., 2008; Croll et al., 2005; Forney et al., 1995). The impact of noise is not only of great concern for baleen whales, but also for other species that depend on a healthy acoustic environment. If this is not studied thoroughly, conservation efforts might be too late, which could result in a degrading natural soundscape and decreasing biodiversity (e.g. Duarte et al., 2021). This trend, caused by a decline in vocalizing species, has already been observed in other marine habitats such as coral reefs and kelp forests, endangering biodiversity (Gordon et al., 2018; Gottesman et al., 2020).

Findings from this study indicate that blue and fin whales seek areas of high productivity indicating dense patches of prey, even amidst persisting shipping noise in the SBC. Noise from shipping activity overlaps with frequencies of blue and fin whale calls, thereby affecting their ability to use their acoustic environment. Investigating the timing of blue whale arrival, potentially driven by memory (Szesciorka et al., 2020), and daily variations in calling and foraging activities (Calambokidis et al., 2019; Oleson et al., 2007b), could help us to establish a policy in which shipping activity overlaps less with blue whale calling and foraging activity, thereby also reducing the risk of ship strikes (Calambokidis et al., 2019). The year-round presence of some fin whale populations in this area is also of concern in light of conservation efforts, because of the overlap with high intensities of shipping traffic and noise-levels. Studying their year-round movement and calling activity in the entire Southern California region could help us gain more knowledge regarding their preferred habitats in order to conserve these and potentially limit the whales' interaction with shipping traffic and enhanced noise levels.

Since this is the first study to investigate the potential effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on the shipping activity in the Santa Barbara Channel, but I did not find any clear difference in shipping activity, it would be interesting to compare this data to other sites covering the same time periods which showed a marked decrease in shipping activity, to study the effects of the decrease in shipping activity on whale acoustic behavior. A potential delayed effect of Covid-19 on the marine soundscape of the Santa Barbara Channel could be revealed when including data from a longer timescale. Comparing acoustic data from La Niña to other sites in the Northeast Pacific could provide us with a broader scope in understanding of the behavioral response in calling activity to enhanced productivity as an effect of La Niña. Moreover, combining environmental data with prey abundance estimates, as well as shipping noise, over a bigger spatial and temporal scale would allow us to gain knowledge about the potential trade-off between prey- or noise- driven distribution of blue and fin whales.

The main objective of this study was to investigate the impact of shipping traffic on calling activity of blue and fin whales in the Santa Barbara Channel. No difference in shipping activity as a result of Covid-19 was found, yet an overall high intensity of shipping traffic maintained throughout the entire period. Fin whale whales were continuously acoustically active, whereas blue whale calls were almost exclusively detected during periods of enhanced productivity as a result of La Niña. These findings contribute to existing research by providing additional proof of continuous presence of fin whales in the Santa Barbara Channel, seemingly unaffected by the persistent shipping traffic. On the other hand, blue whales mainly inhabit their foraging ground north of the Channel Islands in favorable environmental circumstances. Understanding the effect of anthropogenic noise on whale acoustic behavior is important to sustain a healthy underwater soundscape, contributing to a healthy marine ecosystem. The Santa Barbara Channel's unique bathymetry, combined with its role as a major shipping route and baleen whale foraging area, makes it exceptionally susceptible to variations in the marine acoustic environment. Including a thorough investigation of call-types in relation to behavior, as well as including data from visual surveys and prey distribution over a bigger temporal and spatial scale would enlarge our understanding of the effect or potential trade-off of shipping traffic and environmental factors on blue and fin whale ecology. Continuing interdisciplinary research including marine biology, acoustics, and environmental policy will be essential in developing sustainable solutions to mitigate the impact of anthropogenic noise on marine life.

Ainslie, M. A., Halvorsen, M. B., & Robinson, S. P. (2021). A terminology standard for underwater acoustics and the benefits of international standardization. *IEEE Journal of Oceanic Engineering*, 47(1), 179-200.

Andrew, R. K., Howe, B. M., Mercer, J. A., & Dzieciuch, M. A. (2002). Ocean ambient sound: Comparing the 1960s with the 1990s for a receiver off the California coast. *Acoustics research letters online*, *3*(2), 65-70.

Andrew, R. K., Howe, B. M., & Mercer, J. A. (2011). Long-time trends in ship traffic noise for four sites off the North American West Coast. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 129(2), 642-651.

Au, W. W., & Hastings, M. C. (2008). Principles of marine bioacoustics (Vol. 510). New York: Springer.

Barlow, J. (1995). The abundance of cetaceans in California waters. Part I: Ship surveys in summer and fall of 1991. Oceanographic Literature Review, 9(42), 784.

Bauer, D. F. (1972). Constructing confidence sets using rank statistics. Journal of the American Statistical Association, 67(339), 687-690.

Baumgartner, M. F., Bonnell, J., Van Parijs, S. M., Corkeron, P. J., Hotchkin, C., Ball, K., Pelletier, L., Partan, J., Peters, D., Kemp, J., Pietro, J., Newhall, K., Stokes, A., Cole, T.V.N., Quintana, E. & Kraus, S. D. (2019). Persistent near real-time passive acoustic monitoring for baleen whales from a moored buoy: System description and evaluation. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *10*(9), 1476-1489.

Bograd, S. J., & Lynn, R. J. (2001). Physical-biological coupling in the California Current during the 1997– 99 El Niño-La Niña cycle. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 28(2), 275-278.

Bradbury, J. W., & Vehrencamp, S. L. (1998). *Principles of animal communication* (Vol. 132). Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates.

Burtenshaw, J. C., Oleson, E. M., Hildebrand, J. A., McDonald, M. A., Andrew, R. K., Howe, B. M., & Mercer, J. A. (2004). Acoustic and satellite remote sensing of blue whale seasonality and habitat in the Northeast Pacific. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, *51*(10-11), 967-986.

Calambokidis, J., & Barlow, J. (2004). Abundance of blue and humpback whales in the eastern North Pacific estimated by capture-recapture and line-transect methods. *Marine Mammal Science*, 20(1), 63-85.

Calambokidis, J., Barlow, J., Ford, J. K., Chandler, T. E., & Douglas, A. B. (2009). Insights into the population structure of blue whales in the Eastern North Pacific from recent sightings and photographic identification. *Marine Mammal Science*, 25(4), 816-832.

Calambokidis, J., Steiger, G. H., Curtice, C., Harrison, J., Ferguson, M. C., Becker, E., DeAngelis, M. & Van Parijs, S. M. (2015). 4. Biologically important areas for selected cetaceans within US waters-west coast region. *Aquatic Mammals*, 41(1), 39.

CARB.2008. "Emissions Estimation Methodology for Ocean-Going Vessels." Technical Report Appendix D to Proposed Regulation for Fuel Sulfur and Other OperationalRequirements for Ocean-Going Vessels within California Waters and 24 Nautical Milesof the California Baseline, California Air Resources Board (CARB).

Castellote, M., Clark, C. W., & Lammers, M. O. (2012). Acoustic and behavioural changes by fin whales (Balaenoptera physalus) in response to shipping and airgun noise. *Biological Conservation*, 147(1), 115-122.

Cato, D. H. (1976). Ambient sea noise in waters near Australia. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 60(2), 320-328.

CHLA. E.U. Copernicus Marine Service Information (CMEMS) Marine Data Store (MDS) DOI: https://doi.org/10.48670/moi-00281 (Accessed on 26-10-2023).

Cholewiak, D., Clark, C. W., Ponirakis, D., Frankel, A., Hatch, L. T., Risch, D., Stanistreet, J.E., Thompson, M., Vu, E. & Van Parijs, S. M. (2018). Communicating amidst the noise: modeling the aggregate influence of ambient and vessel noise on baleen whale communication space in a national marine sanctuary. *Endangered Species Research*, *36*, 59-75.

Christensen, L. B. (2006). Marine mammal populations: reconstructing historical abundances at the global scale.

Clark, C. W., Ellison, W. T., Southall, B. L., Hatch, L., Van Parijs, S. M., Frankel, A., & Ponirakis, D. (2009). Acoustic masking in marine ecosystems: intuitions, analysis, and implication. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 395, 201-222.

Cooke, J.G. (2018a). Balaenoptera musculus (errata version published in 2019). *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2018*: e.T2477A156923585. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2018-2.RLTS.T2477A156923585.en</u>

Cooke, J.G. (2018b). Balaenoptera physalus. *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2018*: e.T2478A50349982. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2018-2.RLTS.T2478A50349982.en

Croll, D. A., Clark, C. W., Calambokidis, J., Ellison, W. T., & Tershy, B. R. (2001a). Effect of anthropogenic low-frequency noise on the foraging ecology of Balaenoptera whales. In *Animal Conservation forum* (Vol. 4, No. 1, pp. 13-27). Cambridge University Press.

Croll, D. A., Acevedo-Gutiérrez, A., Tershy, B. R., & Urbán-Ramírez, J. (2001b). The diving behavior of blue and fin whales: is dive duration shorter than expected based on oxygen stores?. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 129(4), 797-809.

Croll, D. A., Clark, C. W., Acevedo, A., Tershy, B., Flores, S., Gedamke, J., & Urban, J. (2002). Only male fin whales sing loud songs. *Nature*, 417(6891), 809-809.

Croll, D. A., Marinovic, B., Benson, S., Chavez, F. P., Black, N., Ternullo, R., & Tershy, B. R. (2005). From wind to whales: trophic links in a coastal upwelling system. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 289, 117-130.

Cummings, W. C., & Thompson, P. O. (1971). Underwater sounds from the blue whale, Balaenoptera musculus. *The journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 50(4B), 1193-1198.

Dahl, P. H., Dall'Osto, D. R., & Harrington, M. J. (2021). Trends in low-frequency underwater noise off the Oregon coast and impacts of COVID-19 pandemic. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 149(6), 4073-4077.

Dirzka, C., & Acciaro, M. (2022). Global shipping network dynamics during the COVID-19 pandemic's initial phases. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 99, 103265.

Duarte, C. M., Chapuis, L., Collin, S. P., Costa, D. P., Devassy, R. P., Eguiluz, V. M., Erbe, C., Gordon, T.A.C., Halpern, B.S., Harding, H.R., Havlik, M.N., Meekan, M., Merchant, N.D., Miksis-Olds, J.L., Parsons, M., Predragovic, M., Radford, A.N., Simpson, S.D., Slabbekoorn, H., Staaterman, E., Van Opzeeland, I.C., Winderen, J., Zhang, X. & Juanes, F. (2021). The soundscape of the Anthropocene ocean. *Science*, *371*(6529), eaba4658.

Dugdale, R. C., & Wilkerson, F. P. (1989). New production in the upwelling center at Point Conception, California: temporal and spatial patterns. *Deep Sea Research Part A. Oceanographic Research Papers*, 36(7), 985-1007.

Edds, P. L. (1988). Characteristics of finback Balaenoptera physalus vocalizations in the St. Lawrence Estuary. *Bioaconstics*, 1(2-3), 131-149.

Edds-Walton, P. L. (1997). Acoustic communication signals of mysticete whales. Bioacoustics, 8(1-2), 47-60.

Emery, W.J. & Thomson, R.E. (2001). Data analysis methods in physical oceanography (2), 379.380. Elsevier Science.

Erbe, C. (2013). Underwater noise of small personal watercraft (jet skis). The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 133(4), EL326-EL330.

Erbe, C., Liong, S., Koessler, M. W., Duncan, A. J., & Gourlay, T. (2016). Underwater sound of rigid-hulled inflatable boats. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 139(6), EL223-EL227.

Erbe, C., Marley, S. A., Schoeman, R. P., Smith, J. N., Trigg, L. E., & Embling, C. B. (2019). The effects of ship noise on marine mammals—A review. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *6*, 606.

Fiedler, P. C., Reilly, S. B., Hewitt, R. P., Demer, D., Philbrick, V. A., Smith, S., Armstrong, W., Croll, D.A., Tershy, B.R. & Mate, B. R. (1998). Blue whale habitat and prey in the California Channel Islands. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 45(8-9), 1781-1801.

Findlay, C. R., Rojano-Doñate, L., Tougaard, J., Johnson, M. P., & Madsen, P. T. (2023). Small reductions in cargo vessel speed substantially reduce noise impacts to marine mammals. *Science Advances*, 9(25), eadf2987.

Forney, K. A., & Barlow, J. (1998). Seasonal patterns in the abundance and distribution of California cetaceans, 1991–1992. *Marine Mammal Science*, 14(3), 460-489.

Forney, K. A., Barlow, J., & Carretta, J. V. (1995). The abundance of cetaceans in California waters. Part II: Aerial surveys in winter and spring of 1991 and 1992. *Oceanographic Literature Review*, 9(42), 784-785.

Freedman, R., Herron, S., Byrd, M., Birney, K., Morten, J., Shafritz, B., Caldow, C. & Hastings, S. (2017). The effectiveness of incentivized and non-incentivized vessel speed reduction programs: Case study in the Santa Barbara channel. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 148, 31-39.

Goldbogen, J. A., Calambokidis, J., Shadwick, R. E., Oleson, E. M., McDonald, M. A., & Hildebrand, J. A. (2006). Kinematics of foraging dives and lunge-feeding in fin whales. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 209(7), 1231-1244.

Good, S., Fiedler, E., Mao, C., Martin, M.J., Maycock, A., Reid, R., Roberts-Jones, J., Searle, T., Waters, J., While, J., Worsfold, M. The Current Configuration of the OSTIA System for Operational Production of Foundation Sea Surface Temperature and Ice Concentration Analyses. Remote Sens. 2020, 12, 720, doi:10.3390/rs12040720.

Gordon, T. A., Harding, H. R., Wong, K. E., Merchant, N. D., Meekan, M. G., McCormick, M. I., Radford, A.N. & Simpson, S. D. (2018). Habitat degradation negatively affects auditory settlement behavior of coral reef fishes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *115*(20), 5193-5198.

Gottesman, B. L., Sprague, J., Kushner, D. J., Bellisario, K., Savage, D., McKenna, M. F., Conlin, D.L., DiDonato, E., Barkaszi, M.J., Halvorsen., M.B. & Pijanowski, B. C. (2020). Soundscapes indicate kelp forest condition. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 654, 35-52.

Hasan, N. A., Chikamoto, Y., & McPhaden, M. J. (2022). The influence of tropical basin interactions on the 2020–2022 double-dip La Niña. *Frontiers in Climate*, *4*, 1001174.

Hastie, T., & Tibshirani, R. (1987). Generalized additive models: some applications. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 82(398), 371-386.

Hildebrand, J. A. (2009). Anthropogenic and natural sources of ambient noise in the ocean. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 395*, 5-20.

Hollander, M., Wolfe, D. A., & Chicken, E. (2013). Nonparametric statistical methods. John Wiley & Sons.

Irvine, L. M., Mate, B. R., Winsor, M. H., Palacios, D. M., Bograd, S. J., Costa, D. P., & Bailey, H. (2014). Spatial and temporal occurrence of blue whales off the US West Coast, with implications for management. *PLoS One*, *9*(7), e102959.

Jalkanen, J. P., Johansson, L., Andersson, M. H., Majamäki, E., & Sigray, P. (2022). Underwater noise emissions from ships during 2014–2020. *Environmental Pollution*, 311, 119766.

Jensen, A. S., Silber, G. K., & Calambokidis, J. (2003). Large whale ship strike database.

Kawamura, A. K. I. T. O. (1980). A review of food of balaenopterid whales. Sci. Rep. Whales Res. Inst, 32, 155-197.

Klotz, R., & Berazneva, J. (2022). Local Standards, Behavioral Adjustments, and Welfare: Evaluating California's Ocean-Going Vessel Fuel Rule. *Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists*, 9(3), 383-424.

Koot, B. (2015). Winter behaviour and population structure of fin whales (Balaenoptera physalus) in British Columbia inferred from passive acoustic data (Doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia).

Laist, D. W., Knowlton, A. R., Mead, J. G., Collet, A. S., & Podesta, M. (2001). Collisions between ships and whales. *Marine Mammal Science*, 17(1), 35-75.

Lavergne, T., Sørensen, A. M., Kern, S., Tonboe, R., Notz, D., Aaboe, S., Bell, L., Dybkjær, G., Eastwood, S., Gabarro, C., Heygster, G., Killie, M. A., Brandt Kreiner, M., Lavelle, J., Saldo, R., Sandven, S., and Pedersen, L. T.: Version 2 of the EUMETSAT OSI SAF and ESA CCI sea-ice concentration climate data records, The Cryosphere, 13, 49-78, doi:10.5194/tc-13-49-2019, 2019.

Lavery, T. J., Roudnew, B., Gill, P., Seymour, J., Seuront, L., Johnson, G., ... & Smetacek, V. (2010). Iron defecation by sperm whales stimulates carbon export in the Southern Ocean. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 277(1699), 3527-3531.

Lewis, L. A., & Širović, A. (2018). Variability in blue whale acoustic behavior off southern California. *Marine Mammal Science*, *34*(2), 311-329.

Li, X., Hu, Z. Z., Tseng, Y. H., Liu, Y., & Liang, P. (2022). A historical perspective of the La Niña event in 2020/2021. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 127(7), e2021JD035546.

Longden, E. G., Gillespie, D., Mann, D. A., McHugh, K. A., Rycyk, A. M., Wells, R. S., & Tyack, P. L. (2022). Comparison of the marine soundscape before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in dolphin habitat in Sarasota Bay, FL. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *152*(6), 3170-3185.

Lynn, R. J., & Bograd, S. J. (2002). Dynamic evolution of the 1997–1999 El Niño–La Niña cycle in the southern California Current system. *Progress in Oceanography*, 54(1-4), 59-75.

March, D., Metcalfe, K., Tintoré, J., & Godley, B. J. (2021). Tracking the global reduction of marine traffic during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nature communications*, *12*(1), 2415.

Mate, B. R., Lagerquist, B. A., & Calambokidis, J. (1999). Movements of North Pacific blue whales during the feeding season off southern California and their southern fall migration 1. *Marine Mammal Science*, *15*(4), 1246-1257.

McDonald, M. A., Hildebrand, J. A., & Webb, S. C. (1995). Blue and fin whales observed on a seafloor array in the Northeast Pacific. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 98(2), 712-721.

McDonald, M. A., Calambokidis, J., Teranishi, A. M., & Hildebrand, J. A. (2001). The acoustic calls of blue whales off California with gender data. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 109(4), 1728-1735.

McDonald, M. A., Mesnick, S. L., & Hildebrand, J. A. (2006). Biogeographic characterization of blue whale song worldwide: using song to identify populations. *Journal of cetacean research and management*, 8(1), 55-65.

McDonald, M. A., Hildebrand, J. A., Wiggins, S. M., & Ross, D. (2008). A 50 Year comparison of ambient ocean noise near San Clemente Island: A bathymetrically complex coastal region off Southern California. *The journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 124(4), 1985-1992.

McDonald, M. A., Hildebrand, J. A., & Mesnick, S. (2009). Worldwide decline in tonal frequencies of blue whale songs. *Endangered species research*, 9(1), 13-21.

McKenna, M. F., Soldevilla, M. E. L. I. S. S. A., Oleson, E. R. I. N., Wiggins, S. E. A. N., Hildebrand, J. A., Damiani, C., & Garcelon, D. (2009). Increased underwater noise levels in the Santa Barbara channel from commercial ship traffic and the potential impact on blue whales (Balaenoptera musculus). In *Proceedings of the 7th California Islands Symposium* (pp. 141-149). Institute for Wildlife Studies, Arcata, Calif, USA.

McKenna, M. F., Calambokidis, J., Oleson, E. M., Laist, D. W., & Goldbogen, J. A. (2015). Simultaneous tracking of blue whales and large ships demonstrates limited behavioral responses for avoiding collision. *Endangered Species Research*, 27(3), 219-232.

Melcon, M. L., Cummins, A. J., Kerosky, S. M., Roche, L. K., Wiggins, S. M., & Hildebrand, J. A. (2012). Blue whales respond to anthropogenic noise. *PloS one*, 7(2), e32681.

Merchant, C.J., Embury, O., Bulgin, C.E. et al. Satellite-based time-series of sea-surface temperature since 1981 for climate applications. Sci Data 6, 223 (2019) doi:10.1038/s41597-019-0236-x.

Miksis-Olds, J. L., Bradley, D. L., & Maggie Niu, X. (2013). Decadal trends in Indian Ocean ambient sound. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 134(5), 3464-3475.

Miksis-Olds, J. L., & Nichols, S. M. (2016). Is low frequency ocean sound increasing globally?. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 139(1), 501-511.

Millefiori, L. M., Braca, P., Zissis, D., Spiliopoulos, G., Marano, S., Willett, P. K., & Carniel, S. (2021). COVID-19 impact on global maritime mobility. *Scientific reports*, *11*(1), 18039.

Mizroch, S. A., Rice, D. W., Zwiefelhofer, D., Waite, J., & Perryman, W. L. (2009). Distribution and movements of fin whales in the North Pacific Ocean. *Mammal Review*, 39(3), 193-227.

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), Office of National Marine Sanctuaries. (2023). Channel Islands National Marine Sanctuary Final Management Plan. Silver Spring, MD.

Nemoto, T. (1970). Feeding pattern of baleen whales in the ocean. Marine food chains, 241-252.

Nieukirk, S. L., Stafford, K. M., Mellinger, D. K., Dziak, R. P., & Fox, C. G. (2004). Low-frequency whale and seismic airgun sounds recorded in the mid-Atlantic Ocean. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 115(4), 1832-1843.

Nsw Government Maritime (2010). NSW Boat Ownership and Storage: Growth Forecasts to 2026. Sydney, NSW: NSW Government Maritime.

Olson, P.A., Kinzey, D., Double, M.C., Matsuoka, K., & Findlay, K. (2021). Capture-recapture estimates of abundance of Antarctic blue whales. Paper SC/69A/ASI/01 Rev presented to the Scientific Committee of the International Whaling Commission.

Oleson, E. M., Wiggins, S. M., & Hildebrand, J. A. (2007a). Temporal separation of blue whale call types on a southern California feeding ground. *Animal Behaviour*, 74(4), 881-894.

Oleson, E. M., Calambokidis, J., Burgess, W. C., McDonald, M. A., LeDuc, C. A., & Hildebrand, J. A. (2007b). Behavioral context of call production by eastern North Pacific blue whales. *Marine Ecology progress series*, 330, 269-284.

Paniagua-Mendoza, A., Gendron, D., Romero-Vivas, E., & Hildebrand, J. A. (2017). Seasonal acoustic behavior of blue whales (Balaenoptera musculus) in the Gulf of California, Mexico. *Marine Mammal Science*, *33*(1), 206-218.

Philander, S. G. H. (1985). El Niño and La Niña. Journal of Atmospheric Sciences, 42(23), 2652-2662.

Putland, R. L., Constantine, R., & Radford, C. A. (2017). Exploring spatial and temporal trends in the soundscape of an ecologically significant embayment. *Scientific reports*, 7(1), 5713.

Redfern, J. V., Hatch, L. T., Caldow, C., DeAngelis, M. L., Gedamke, J., Hastings, S., Henderson, L., McKenna, M.F., Moore, T.J. & Porter, M. B. (2017). Assessing the risk of chronic shipping noise to baleen whales off Southern California, USA. *Endangered Species Research*, *32*, 153-167.

Rice, A., Debich, A. J., Širović, A., Oleson, E. M., Trickey, J. S., Varga, L. M., Wiggins, S.M., Hildebrand, J.A. & Baumann-Pickering, S. (2021a). Cetacean occurrence offshore of Washington from long-term passive acoustic monitoring. *Marine Biology*, *168*, 1-22.

Rice, A., Širović, A., Trickey, J. S., Debich, A. J., Gottlieb, R. S., Wiggins, S. M., Hildebrand, J.A. & Baumann-Pickering, S. (2021b). Cetacean occurrence in the Gulf of Alaska from long-term passive acoustic monitoring. *Marine Biology*, *168*(5), 72.

Rivers, J. A. (1997). Blue whale, Balaenoptera musculus, vocalizations from the waters off central California. *Marine Mammal Science*, 13(2), 186-195.

Rockwood, R. C., Calambokidis, J., & Jahncke, J. (2017). High mortality of blue, humpback and fin whales from modeling of vessel collisions on the US West Coast suggests population impacts and insufficient protection. *PLoS One*, *12*(8), e0183052.

Roman, J., Estes, J. A., Morissette, L., Smith, C., Costa, D., McCarthy, J., Nation, J., Nicol, S., Pershing, A. & Smetacek, V. (2014). Whales as marine ecosystem engineers. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *12*(7), 377-385.

Roman, J., & McCarthy, J. J. (2010). The whale pump: marine mammals enhance primary productivity in a coastal basin. *PloS one*, *5*(10), e13255.

Royston, J. P. (1982). Algorithm AS 181: the W test for normality. Applied Statistics, 176-180.

Ryan, J. P., Joseph, J. E., Margolina, T., Hatch, L. T., Azzara, A., Reyes, A., Southall, B.L., DeVogelaere, A., Peavey Reeves, L.E., Zhang, Y., Cline, D.E., Jones, B., McGill, P., Baumann-Pickering, S. & Stimpert, A. K. (2021). Reduction of low-frequency vessel noise in Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 587.

Sakamoto, Y., Ishiguro, M., & Kitagawa, G. (1986). Akaike information criterion statistics. *Dordrecht, The Netherlands: D. Reidel, 81*(10.5555), 26853.

Santora, J. A., Sydeman, W. J., Schroeder, I. D., Field, J. C., Miller, R. R., & Wells, B. K. (2017). Persistence of trophic hotspots and relation to human impacts within an upwelling marine ecosystem. *Ecological Applications*, 27(2), 560-574.

Savoca, M. S., Czapanskiy, M. F., Kahane-Rapport, S. R., Gough, W. T., Fahlbusch, J. A., Bierlich, K. C., Segre, P.S., Di Clemente, J., Penry, G.S., Wiley, D.N., Calambokidis, J., Nowacek, D.P., Johnston, D.W., Pyenson, N.D., Friedlaender, A.S., Hazen, E.L. & Goldbogen, J. A. (2021). Baleen whale prey consumption based on high-resolution foraging measurements. *Nature*, *599*(7883), 85-90.

Sears, R., Ramp, C., Douglas, A. B., & Calambokidis, J. (2013). Reproductive parameters of eastern North Pacific blue whales Balaenoptera musculus. *Endangered Species Research*, 22(1), 23-31. Service, S. K., Rice, J. A., & Chavez, F. P. (1998). Relationship between physical and biological variables

during the upwelling period in Monterey Bay, CA. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography, 45(8-9), 1669-1685.

Service, S. K., Rice, J. A., & Chavez, F. P. (1998). Relationship between physical and biological variables during the upwelling period in Monterey Bay, CA. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 45(8-9), 1669-1685.

Simon, M., Stafford, K. M., Beedholm, K., Lee, C. M., & Madsen, P. T. (2010). Singing behavior of fin whales in the Davis Strait with implications for mating, migration and foraging. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *128*(5), 3200-3210.

Širović, A., Hildebrand, J. A., Wiggins, S. M., McDonald, M. A., Moore, S. E., & Thiele, D. (2004). Seasonality of blue and fin whale calls and the influence of sea ice in the Western Antarctic Peninsula. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography, 51(17-19), 2327-2344.

Širović, A., Williams, L. N., Kerosky, S. M., Wiggins, S. M., & Hildebrand, J. A. (2013). Temporal separation of two fin whale call types across the eastern North Pacific. Marine biology, 160, 47-57.

Širović, A., Rice, A., Chou, E., Hildebrand, J. A., Wiggins, S. M., & Roch, M. A. (2015). Seven years of blue and fin whale call abundance in the Southern California Bight. *Endangered Species Research*, 28(1), 61-76.

Širović, A., Oleson, E. M., Buccowich, J., Rice, A., & Bayless, A. R. (2017). Fin whale song variability in southern California and the Gulf of California. Scientific reports, 7(1), 10126.

Širović, A. (2018). Propagation loss for monitoring along the north slope of Santa Cruz Island (Santa Barbara Channel). Report submitted to: *Benioff Ocean Initiative, University of California, Santa Barbara*.

Širović, A., & Oleson, E. M. (2022). The bioacoustics of blue whales—Global diversity and behavioral variability in a foraging specialist. In *Ethology and Behavioral Ecology of Mysticetes* (pp. 195-221). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

Smith, C. R., Glover, A. G., Treude, T., Higgs, N. D., & Amon, D. J. (2015). Whale-fall ecosystems: recent insights into ecology, paleoecology, and evolution. *Annual Review of Marine Science*, 7, 571-596.

Smith, R. C., Dustan, P., Au, D., Baker, K. S., & Dunlap, E. A. (1986). Distribution of cetaceans and seasurface chlorophyll concentrations in the California Current. *Marine Biology*, *91*, 385-402. Smith, C. R., Glover, A. G., Treude, T., Higgs, N. D., & Amon, D. J. (2015). Whale-fall ecosystems: recent insights into ecology, paleoecology, and evolution. Annual Review of Marine Science, 7, 571-596.

Smith, K. B., Leary, P., Deal, T., Joseph, J., Ryan, J., Miller, C., ... & Cray, B. (2022). Acoustic vector sensor analysis of the Monterey Bay region soundscape and the impact of COVID-19. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 151(4), 2507-2520.

SSH. E.U. Copernicus Marine Service Information (CMEMS) Marine Data Store (MDS) DOI: https://doi.org/10.48670/moi-00148 (Accessed on 26-10-2023).

SST. E.U. Copernicus Marine Service Information (CMEMS) Marine Data Store (MDS) DOI: https://doi.org/10.48670/moi-00169 (Accessed on 26-10-2023).

Stafford, K. M., Nieukirk, S. L., & Cox, C. G. (2001). Geographic and seasonal variation of blue whale calls in the North Pacific. *J. Cetacean Res. Manage.*, *3*(1), 65-76.

Stafford, K. M., Mellinger, D. K., Moore, S. E., & Fox, C. G. (2007). Seasonal variability and detection range modeling of baleen whale calls in the Gulf of Alaska, 1999–2002. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 122(6), 3378-3390.

Stafford, K. M., Citta, J. J., Moore, S. E., Daher, M. A., & George, J. E. (2009). Environmental correlates of blue and fin whale call detections in the North Pacific Ocean from 1997 to 2002. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 395, 37-53.

Stanley, J. A., Radford, C. A., & Jeffs, A. G. (2012). Location, location, location: finding a suitable home among the noise. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 279(1742), 3622-3631.

Szesciorka, A. R., Ballance, L. T., Širović, A., Rice, A., Ohman, M. D., Hildebrand, J. A., & Franks, P. J. (2020). Timing is everything: Drivers of interannual variability in blue whale migration. *Scientific reports*, *10*(1), 7710.

Thompson, P. O., Findley, L. T., Vidal, O., & Cummings, W. C. (1996). Underwater sounds of blue whales, Balaenoptera musculus, in the Gulf of California, Mexico. *Marine Mammal Science*, *12*(2), 288-293.

Thomson, D. J., & Barclay, D. R. (2020). Real-time observations of the impact of COVID-19 on underwater noise. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 147(5), 3390-3396.

Truong, G., & Rogers, T. L. (2023). La Niña conditions influence interannual call detections of pygmy blue whales in the eastern Indian Ocean. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *9*.

Urick, R. J. (1983). Principles of underwater sound (3rd ed., pp. XIII, 423). McGraw-Hill.

U.S. Department of Homeland Security (2018). 2017 Recreational Boating Statistics (Report No. COMDTPUB P16754.31). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Homeland Security.

Watkins, W. A. (1981). Activities and underwater sounds of fin whales. Sci. Rep. Whales Res. Inst, 33, 83-117.

Watkins, W. A., Tyack, P., Moore, K. E., & Bird, J. E. (1987). The 20-Hz signals of finback whales (B alaenoptera physalus). The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 82(6), 1901-1912.

Watkins, W. A., Daher, M. A., Reppucci, G. M., George, J. E., Martin, D. L., DiMarzio, N. A., & Gannon, D. P. (2000). Seasonality and distribution of whale calls in the North Pacific. *Oceanography*, *13*(1), 62-67.

Wenz, G. M. (1962). Acoustic ambient noise in the ocean: Spectra and sources. *The journal of the acoustical society of America*, 34(12), 1936-1956.

Wood, S. N. (2017). Generalized additive models: an introduction with R. CRC press.

ZoBell, V. M., Frasier, K. E., Morten, J. A., Hastings, S. P., Peavey Reeves, L. E., Wiggins, S. M., & Hildebrand, J. A. (2021). Underwater noise mitigation in the Santa Barbara Channel through incentive-based vessel speed reduction. *Scientific reports*, *11*(1), 18391.



Figure A1. Propagation model for north slope of Santa Cruz Island (Santa Barbara Channel). Total transmission loss from buoy deployed at 34°6'0" N and 119°45'51" W at 167m depth. To the west, the area limit was dependent on radial length used in model, not necessarily the maximum detection range. Figure from Širović (2018).

Table A1. Results of seven Generalized Additive Models for blue whale A-calls. The test statistics for each model variable (Ref. df, test-statistic F, and p-value) are presented. The R²-value and the deviance explained (%) by the model are represented in the model assessment. AIC-values were calculated for all models, resulting in model 3 (rastered) as the best-fitted model for blue whale A-calls.

		Model results			Model assessment		
Model	Predictor(s)	Ref. df	F	p-value	R ²	Deviance explained	AIC
1	Shipping	1	0.027	0.87	-0.040	0.12%	144.4
2	Shipping	1.31	0.099	0.912	0.081	1.35%	140.1
4	SST	1.00	3.95	0.0589	0.081		142.1
	Shipping	1.73	1.69	0.136		51%	132.6
3	SST	1.00	0.432	0.518	-0.247		
	Chl a	1.00	13.2	1.47 * 10 ⁻³ *			
4	SST	1	4.44	0.0458 *	0.0557	16.1%	139.8
5	SST	1.00	1.19	0.287	0.356	40.6%	134.0
5	Chl a	1.29	6.51	0.0123 *			134.0
6	Chl a	1.77	7.29	4.04 * 10 ⁻³ *	0.402	39.2%	133.4
7	Shipping	1.31	0.099	0.912	0.0362	17.6%	1421
1	Chl a	1.00	3.95	0.0589	- 0.0362	17.6%	142.1

Table A2. Results of seven Generalized Additive Models for blue whale B-calls. The test statistics for each model variable (Ref. df, test-statistic F, and p-value) are presented. The R^2 -value and the deviance explained (%) by the model are represented in the model assessment. AIC-values were calculated for all models, resulting in model 7 (rastered) as the best-fitted model for blue whale B-calls.

		Model results			Model assessment		
Model	Predictor(s)	Ref. df	F	p-value	R ²	Deviance explained	AIC
1	Shipping	1	0.079	0.782	-0.0357	0.355%	140.0
2	Shipping	2.19	1.12	0.331	0.185	31%	140.2
4	SST	3.15	1.171	0.193	0.185		140.2
	Shipping	2.52	2.53	0.0697	0.0206	64.1%	128.8
3	SST (lag)	2.75	0.947	0.426			
	Chl a	1.00	15.04	9.36 * 10 ⁻⁴ *			
4	SST (lag)	2.70	1.62	0.363	-7.23 * 10 ⁻⁴	14.8%	139.6
5	SST (lag)	1.00	0.290	0.596	0.319	44.3%	131.0
5	Chl a	2.23	5.73	8.47 * 10 ⁻³ *			131.0
6	Chl a	2.47	5.42	8.45 * 10 ⁻³ *	0.42	45.1%	129.1
7	Shipping	2.13	2.48	0.0989	0.11	55 00%	127.0
/	Chl a	1.88	10.2	9.47 * 10 ⁻⁴ *	-0.11	55.770	12/.7

Table A3. Results of seven Generalized Additive Models for blue whale D-calls. The test statistics for each model variable (Ref. df, test-statistic F, and p-value) are presented. The R²-value and the deviance explained (%) by the model are represented in the model assessment. AIC-values were calculated for all models, resulting in model 7 (rastered) as the best-fitted model for blue whale D-calls.

		Model results			Model assessment		
Model	Predictor(s)	Ref. df	F	p-value	R ²	Deviance explained	AIC
1	Shipping	1	0.782	0.385	-4.83 * 10 ⁻³	3.15%	107.7
2	Shipping	1	0.763	0.391	4 85 * 10 ⁻³	110/2	107.6
<u>ک</u>	SST	1	1.76	0.197	-4.85 * 10 °	1170	107.0
	Shipping	1.00	5.15	0.0346 *	_	42.9%	100.6
3	SST	1.00	0.237	0.6311	-0.305		
	Chl a	1.79	5.98	0.0132 *			
4	SST	1	1.71	0.203	0.0392	7.81%	106.4
5	SST	1.91	1.41	0.327	0.142	40.6%	101 5
5	Chl a	1.96	4.20	0.0296 *			101.5
6	Chl a	1.86	4.02	0.0262 *	0.179	29.5%	101.4
7	Shipping	1.00	5.18	0.0324 *	0 339	40.3%	08.8
1	Chl a	1.45	8.80	2.87 * 10 ⁻³ *	0.339	40.3%	20.0

Table A4. Results of seven Generalized Additive Models for fin whale 20 Hz-calls. The test statistics for each model variable (Ref. df, test-statistic F, and p-value) are presented. The R²-value and the deviance explained (%) by the model are represented in the model assessment. AIC-values were calculated for all models, resulting in model 7 (rastered) as the best-fitted model for fin whale 20 Hz-calls.

		Model results			Model assessment		
Model	Predictor(s)	Ref. df	F	p-value	R ²	Deviance explained	AIC
1	Shipping	1	18.1	1.56 * 10 ⁻⁴ *	0.292	36.2%	146.8
2	Shipping	1.00	16.5	2.92 * 10 ⁻⁴ *	0.466	42.5%	4.47.0
2	SST (lag)	1.83	1.71	0.293	0.400		147.2
	Shipping	1.00	22.1	5.07 * 10 ⁻⁵ *	0.75	66.6%	132.9
3	SST (lag)	1.00	0.212	0.649			
	Chl a (lag)	2.00	9.33	6.5 * 10 ⁻⁴ *			
4	SST (lag)	3.05	2.22	0.106	0.0344	19.2%	159.2
F	SST (lag)	1.95	2.12	0.178	0.122	43.9%	140.2
5	Chl a (lag)	1.99	8.45	1.3 * 10 ⁻² *			140.3
6	Chl a (lag)	1.99	9.07	9.13 * 10 ⁻⁴ *	0.126	36.7%	148.4
7	Shipping	1.00	24.3	2.41 * 10 ⁻⁵ *	0.764	66.70/	131.0
1	Chl a (lag)	2.00	12.4	1.44 * 10 ⁻⁴ *		66.7%	131.0

Table A5. Results of seven Generalized Additive Models for fin whale 40 Hz-calls. The test statistics for each model variable (Ref. df, test-statistic F, and p-value) are presented. The R²-value and the deviance explained (%) by the model are represented in the model assessment. AIC-values were calculated for all models, resulting in model 3 (rastered) as the best-fitted model for fin whale 40 Hz-calls.

Model	Predictor(s)	Model results			Model assessment		
		Ref. df	X ²	p-value	R ²	Deviance explained	AIC
1	Shipping	1.00	2.48	0.115	1.38 * 10 ⁻²	0.925%	599.2
2	Shipping	1.00	2.03	0.154	0.202	22.9%	547.3
	SST (lag)	3.72	52.6	< 2 * 10 ⁻¹⁶			
3	Shipping	1.00	2.51	0.113	0.205	24.4%	545.3
	SST (lag)	3.74	25.2	3.25 * 10 ⁻⁵ *			
	Chl a	1.00	3.88	0.0488 *			
4	SST (lag)	3.63	51.7	< 2 * 10 ⁻¹⁶	0.204	21.9%	547.9
5	SST (lag)	3.61	23.9	5.59 * 10 ⁻⁵ *	0.209	24.2%	546.7
	Chl a	2.56	4.69	0.159			
6	Chl a	1.00	28.1	< 2 * 10 ⁻¹⁶	0.107	12.9%	566.9
7	Shipping	5.50	6.48	0.32	0.125	17.2%	566.8
	Chl a	1.00	27.3	7.64 * 10 ⁻⁸ *			



